UNIVERSIDAD DE ALCALA DE HENARES

UNIVERSIDAD NACIONLA AUTONOMA DE NICARAGUA UNAN-LEON

MASTER DEFREE IN ENGLISH TEACHING METHODOLOGY

ENHANCING LEARNING STRATEGIES: TWO INTERVENTION STUDIES

TUTOR

Manuel Megias Ph D

by

Daysi Garcia - Vilma Echeverría

Managua, July 2004

ACKNOLEDGMENTS

We are deeply grateful:

To the Almighty God who accompanied us in every moment of our studies

To our tutor and adviser Mauel Megias for his unconditional help and support in the accomplishment of this subject.

To Fernanco Cerezal not only for his encouragement but also for giving us the opportunity to join the selective group of participants of this master degree Program.

To our lovely professor Dominic Cogan, who initiated us in post graduate studies.

To Unan - León for its support, all the institutions that sere involved in making possible this project particularly to the students who were participants of this research.

Finally, to our families for their unconditional support.

I am particularly grateful to one of my best English teacher, Dominic Cogan, for encouraging and supporting me to take this Master Degree.

I am also thankful to my colleagues specially to Msc Wilman Garcia, for his support on this project.

Finally my thanks go to Unan Managua authorities, particularly to the Dean Alejandro genet, and the vice- Dean Alina Gusto, for their support on this work

Daysi

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

- 2.1 Learning strategies definition
- 2.2 Learning strategies taxonomy
- 2.3 Research on learning strategies in L2 learning
- 2.4 Listening strategies and speaking strategies
 - 2.4.1 Research on listening strategies
 - 2.4.2 Research on speaking strategies
- 2.5 Learning strategies and language learning
- 2.6 Methods for investigating language learning and language use strategies
- 2.7 Methods for investigating and teaching language strategies in the present research

3. INTERVENTIONIST STUDY A (UCA-Managua)

3.0 Introduction: Why two interventionist studies?

3.1 Methodological design

- 3.1.1 Methodology
- 3.1.2 Population and simple
- 3.1.3 Data collecting and instruments
- 3.2 Result of pre-test survey
 - 3.2.1 Experimental group
 - 3.2.2 control group
- 3.3 Strategy training
- 3.4 Results of post-test Survey
 - 3.4.1 Experimental group
 - 3.4.2 Control group
- 3.5 Conclusions

4. INTERVENTIONIST STUDY B (UNAN- Managua)

- 4.1 Methodological design
 - 4.1.1 Constructing the strategy training program
 - 4.1.2 Population and Sample
- 4.2 Analysis of pre-test results
- 4.3 description of the strategy-training program
 - 4.3.1 Objectives
 - 4.3.2 Methodology
- 4.4 Analysis of the post-test results
- 4.5 Conclusions

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

7. ANNEXES

1. INTRODUCTION

This research is intended to analyze in a general way what strategies our students are using for their language learning. At the same time, it presents a study about the application and follow-up of some strategies in the classroom.

The main objective of this work is to show to which extent the use of strategies by learners in the classroom increases the effectiveness of learning a foreign language. It has been widely proved that when some students use their own strategies to learn, they are more successful than those who do not know how to use them.

Based on this context, we have designed a plan to apply some strategies to train students to use them in the classroom and outside it, to become better learners and more independent while using and learning the language. We have started the research with the belief that the use of strategies can facilitate a task and help us, teachers, to get better language learning results.

In our experience as teachers we have met students who seem unable to manage the learning of a language, and that makes us wonder why some people are unable or find it difficult to learn a language while others seem not to have such difficulties in doing the same thing. That is why we decided to train students in learning how to learn and becoming more independent and self-sufficient.

One of the biggest weaknesses of many language students is their dependence and reliance on the teacher. A student may be bright and eager; however it is often very easy for them to become overdependent on the teacher. Many students feel content to have their learning controlled step by step by the teacher and feel threatened or stressed when faced with activities which challenge them and demand greater effort and initiative. However this is not a healthy situation for learners. If language learners wish to succeed, they must take a more active role throughout every step of their progress with their L2. It is very important for students to take control of their own learning so that they will be prepared to deal with the challenges that they will face communicating using L2 in real life. Leaner independence means that learners can set goals and objectives, choose the most suitable methods to achieve them, monitor their progress and evaluate the results. For students to become independent autonomous learners, they require a high degree of motivation, interest and confidence in their ability,

Students are probably unaware of many learning strategies that they use. For example, cognitive strategies such as translating or memorizing come naturally to students and they automatically use them without thinking. However, students are often more conscious of strategies like time management (metacognitive) and consulting with native speakers (social/affective). Learning strategies empower students, helping them to solve problems on their own and improving the way they learn. Therefore they are essential if students wish to continue improving in the future and become independent learners. Nobody can reach a high level of fluency if they rely on the teacher for everything. Students have to be able to think and work for themselves. In real-life situations, people are forced to think on the spot and will not be able to fall back on their teacher forever. This is where learning strategies come into play. People solve problems and become efficient learners and communicators through the use of these processes and strategies. I think one of the biggest faults in traditional teaching methods is that students are too often spoon-fed and are not obliged to think for themselves.

We, as students, remember that if we were told not to do something by our teachers, we did not do it. We became completely tied to what the teacher said. We were not independent at all, and we did not want to be independent. The necessity of research and more knowledge was felt when we had to face teaching. At that moment self-study showed up as means of giving us the tools we lack when we needed them, but it was not an easy task to do. It was something new for us and we were not familiar to it.

This is why the idea of getting ways to facilitate the process of learning came to our heads. And also to make students take a more active role in the learning process. As we grew up professionally we realized how important it is using methods and techniques to facilitate the learning process. It was when we had the opportunity to learn about the use and application of learning strategies that we immediately thought of using them in our classroom to make learning easier and more interesting.

Learning strategies play a vital role in this pursuit for learner autonomy. Learning strategies are good indicators of how learners approach tasks or problems they face during the process of learning

a new language. They give teachers an idea of how their students assess situations, plan, select appropriate skills so that they can understand, learn or remember new information. Developing metacognitive, cognitive and social/affective strategies can help the learner build up learner independence inside and outside the classroom.

GENERAL OBJECTIVE

To analyze the influence of the use of strategies in the teaching-learning process for a higher level of language proficiency in the first year of English Major at UNAN- Managua

SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

- 1. To identify what strategies the sample students use when learning English.
- 2. To determine the influence of learning strategies training to develop language proficiency in listening and speaking skills in the classroom of the first year.
- 3. To analyze the students' perceptions about the effectiveness of the learning strategies and their influence on the English learning process.
- 4. To contribute to the improvement of ELT at UCA and UNAN universities by providing data that could be used by English teaching Staff and students.

The research will be organized in the following way:

In the first chapter of the work strategies will be defined and taxonomy established in order to situate the reader within the context of the investigation. Then, some research on the same area will be described to illustrate to what extend this type of work has been developed during the last two decades. A classification of the type of studies carried out, paying special attention to listening and speaking strategies studies and their findings will also be commented. Finally a section will be devoted to whether strategies should be consciously undertaken or not on the part of students and teachers in the language classrooms.

The second part of the work will include the first interventionist study carried out with a group of first year students at the Language Institute of the Central American University in Managua (study A).

The third part will deal with a second interventionist study developed with a group of first year students of the English Major at the National Autonomous University of Nicaragua, UNAN Managua (study B)

The final part of the work will include some recommendations for the teaching practice taking into account the results and conclusions of either study.

It has been decided to present to separate studies for following reasons:

Firstly, there are two institutions involved, second the number and type of students is different in each group, thirdly, methodology, though quite similar, has focused on and underlined slightly different aspects; fourthly, results from one study can help support results on the other. The strategies used were almost the same, but some changes were made because of the context in which they were used and the students who used them.

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

2.1 Learning strategies definition

Generally speaking, strategies are techniques or procedures used to fulfill a specific task, for example when somebody cooks a meal, he or she needs to follow a procedure to achieve what he or she wants to do. Some people are successful while others are not. Being successful depends on how well and the variety of strategies used.

Strategies are mental processes that people develops to solve specific problems when they appear. They are a way of thinking. Research shows that the use of well-developed strategies makes the difference between successful and unsuccessful learners. These strategies, designed by the user or learned from others, are used to solve problems or make a task easier in different contexts of our life. Success or failure sometimes depends on whether strategies used to carry out a task are effective or not.

The etymology of the word strategy comes from the ancient Greek term *strategia*, which means general ship or the art of war. It has been related to military settings since this concept implies planning, competition, conscious action, toward achievement of an objective (Oxford 1990, 7) and has recently come to school, universities and colleges to help learners achieve their learning to work better. Learning strategies have been defined in many different ways. Here we provide only a few examples to illustrate these different viewpoints:

In the search to develop and refine effective practice in second language learning and teaching, attention has been focused in recent years not just on how best to teach and support learners, but also on how learners learn. When it comes to learning a second language the strategies learners use spontaneously to promote their language learning can make the difference between successful and unsuccessful language learning. Successful strategies are the "strategies employed by people known to be good at L2 learning" (Cook, 1991).

According to Wenden (1987),

... in the literature, strategies have been referred to as techniques, tactics, potentially conscious plans, consciously employed operations, learning skills, basic skills, functional skills, cognitive abilities, language processing strategies, problem solving procedures. These multiple designations point to the elusive nature of the term.

How, then, to understand and define learner strategies?

O'Malley and Chamot (1990) exploit theories from cognitive psychology describing strategies as processes whereby knowledge taken in and stored in short- and long-term memory, is reorganized and automatised.). For Chamot (1987: 71) strategies are techniques, approaches or deliberate actions that students take in order to facilitate the learning and recall of both linguistic and content area information.

Other applied linguists define learning strategies in different ways:

Learning strategies are the behaviors and thoughts that a learner engages in during learning that are intended to influence the learner's encoding' process. (Weinstein and Mayer 1986)

Learner strategies refers to language learning behaviors learners actually engage in to learn and regulate the learning of a second language ... what they know about the strategies they use ... what they know about aspects of their language learning other than the strategies they use. (Wenden 1987: 6)

Second language learner strategies encompass both second language learning and second language use strategies. Taken together they constitute the steps or actions consciously selected by learners either for the learning of a second language, the use of it, or both. (Cohen 1998:5)

Specific actions taken by the learner to make learning easier faster more enjoyable, more self-directed, more effective and more transferable to new situations. (Oxford 1990: 8)

McDonough (1995:2-6) discusses the often overlapping uses of the terms strategies, skills, and processes, pointing out that "strategy" has at least four senses guiding principles, heuristic estimation, compensation mechanism, and plan for action. Furthermore, skills, process and strategy may be co-terminus with various kinds of cognitive mechanism, some of which are automatic and not available for conscious manipulation or inspection, and some of which are.

As seen above, a unique definition of learning strategies has been impossible to articulate. Similarly occurs with their taxonomy. Learning strategies have been categorized in different ways. We provide here four different ways to articulate them though other classification can also be found. We have decided not to include communication strategies as some theorists believe that the use of this type of plans does not help learners learn.

2.2 Learning strategies taxonomy

An early stimulus to the investigation of strategies for second language learning was the programmatic work of Rubin (1975) and Stern (1975) describing strategies which could discriminate between good and poor learner, and which could be recommended as good practice for learning.

Tarone (1977) drew an often quoted distinction between communication, learning, and production strategies, on the basis of the purpose of the strategic behaviour -.repairing or forestalling communication breakdown, expanding language knowledge or exercising receptive or productive skills.

O'Malley and Chamot (1990) group learning strategies into the following categories¹

¹ See annex 1 for a more detailed description of categories.

- metacognitive strategies: the strategies used to make decisions on the learning, to organise and manage it;
- cognitive strategies: strategies used directly to process the information being handled;
- social/affective strategies: strategies having to do with the learner and the learner's attitude to the target language, culture and speakers.

Perhaps one of the most transcendental contributions to learning strategies has been the work of Rebeca Oxford (1990) which formed the basis of the most comprehensive questionnaire, the Strategy Inventory for Language Learning (SILL), and divide strategies into two major groups: *direct* and *indirect*².

Direct strategies are the ones that directly involve the target language. They imply mental processing of the language and are subdivided in *memory, cognitive*, and *compensation* strategies. Within the first group, memory strategies have a specific function, helping students store and retrieve new information. Cognitive strategies enable learners to understand and produce new language by many different means. Compensation strategies allow learners to use the language despite their often large gaps in knowledge.

Indirect strategies are applicable in all language learning situations and are divided in *metacognitive, affective* and *social* strategies. These two groups are interrelated and support each other. Metacognitive strategies provide the learners a way to coordinate their own learning. They are very important for successful language learning because learners have to arrange, and plan their language learning in an efficient and effective way. According to Anna Uhl et al (1999), *metacognitive* strategies include four processes or steps in the language learning which are planning, monitoring, problem-solving and evaluating. These processes are not sequential but maybe used as necessary depending on the demands on the task and the interaction between the task and the learning. Teachers and learners use some

² See annex 2 for a more detailed description of categories.

of these processes in their every day classes without being conscious of what they are doing.

Affective strategies have to do with emotions, attitudes, motivation and values. Affective strategies include three main groups, *lowering your anxiety, encourage yourself* and *taking your emotional temperature*. The affective part of the language learning influences language learning success or failure. Successful language learners are often the ones who control their emotional attitudes about learning. On the other hand, negative feelings can stop or affect the learning process.

Finally, *social strategies* are also quite important in learning a language because language deals with communication in all levels. Rebeca Oxford has divided them in three groups: asking questions, cooperating with others and empathizing with other.

Ernesto Macaro in his book *Learning Strategies in Foreign and Second Language Classrooms* (2001) provides an excellent sequence of how to make university students aware of the type of learning strategies they and others use, and offers a classification based on the idea of a continuum. E. Macaro adopts this approach for two reasons. First, for him, there is considerable overlap between cognitive and metacognitive strategies. This overlap is usually brought about by the situation in which the strategy is taking place. Second, adopting the approach of only referring to them as cognitive, metacognitive, social and affective, deprives of alternative ways of representing these strategies. Macaro opts for a continuum of subconscious (or 'less conscious') and direct strategies at one end and conscious and indirect strategies at the other because a clear dividing line between what is conscious and what is subconscious is not easy to identify.

cognitive	metacognitive/social/affective		
 ✓ Subconscious 	conscious		
direct	indirect		
automatized	controlled		
difficult to articulate	easier to articulate		
non-evaluative	evaluative		
primary	support		
natural	taught		

Strategies at one end tend to be deployed in direct relationship to the learning task, usually in immediate response to teaching instructions or to written or spoken text. Those at the other end tend to be deployed in preparation for, or subsequent to, a learning task or set of tasks, with the learner more in control of their learning. In this sense they are more consciously pro-active. Because they are more pro-active, they may well include some element of evaluation of the effectiveness of a number of more direct strategies being used. When asked, learners usually find these more indirect strategies easier to articulate than direct strategies.

Finally, in her book, *Teaching Learners How to Learn*, Vee Harris presents a learning strategies typology based on the four language macro skills. A first section of cognitive strategies related to listening, reading, speaking and writing and a second section of metacognitive strategies including monitoring, planning and study skills.

2. 3 Research on learning strategies in second language acquisition

Fortunately, studies on strategies have increased considerably over the last two decades. Chamot et al. (1999) identify the following research areas:

- 1. Studies of characteristics of the good language learner
- 2. Development and application of measures to strategies use
- 3. Studies of Strategies used during language tasks
- 4. Studies comparing more effective and less effective learners
- 5. Longitudinal studies of the development of strategies use
- 6. Intervention studies of Learning Strategies instruction
- 7. Vocabulary Strategies instruction studies
- 8. Learning strategies instruction studies
- 9. Reading strategies instruction studies
- 10. Speaking and writing strategies instruction studies
- 11. Content-based strategies instructions studies:

For Macaro (2001), instead, studies in learner strategies fall into two basic types. The first are *descriptive studies* and they try to define:

- 1. The features of a good language learner;
- 2. The total number of strategies that learners (or groups of learners) use;
- 3. Comparisons of strategies use between one group of learners and another group of learners

The second is a series *of intervention studies* which have attempted to discover whether it is possible to bring about change in strategy use in learners through, in most cases, a process of learner training by the teacher or by researchers. The underlying aim with this type of study is that change in strategy use will bring about improved language competences which is the main objective of our research.

Among the studies of good language learners Macaro describes with some details the work carried out by Naiman et al. (1996). In this study good language learners attributed their language learning success to an active approach to tasks, a treatment of language as a system and as a means of communication, a management of the effective demands of language learning, and monitoring their performance.

A second study described by Macaro was carried out by O'Malley and Chamot (1990, see above). Although their prime concern was to arrive at a taxonomy, they too discovered that the most successful learners seemed to correlate with those who used metacognitive strategies. The metacognitive strategies identified by O'Malley and Chamot can be seen in annex 1. In addition, successful learners used social/affective strategies to reduce their anxiety in order to make themselves feel able to do the learning task.

The intervention studies Macaro includes have either measured a change in the use of strategies, measured a change in language competence or both. One of the studies mentioned belongs to Faerch and Kasper (1986). In this study -the training was for learners' interaction strategies- the findings were the following:

- Middle proficiency level learners made considerable progress in using interaction strategies.
- Low and high proficiency learners made less progress.
- The general attitude in the class towards errors and risk-taking had changed. More learners accepted the need to make an attempt even if they did not know the right word.

Perhaps one of the most successful studies of training interaction strategies, and one which use a control group mentioned by Macaro, was that of Dadour and Robbins (1996). After three months the control group had made significant improvements, especially in fluency, range of vocabulary and grammar. Interestingly, the effect of the training seemed to permeate all types of strategy use, not only interaction strategies.

In the following section we will analyse briefly a few examples of the literature concerning listening and speaking strategies as these have been the strategies considered more important and more difficult to acquire by the subjects of our investigation.

2.4 Research on teaching listening and speaking strategies

As stated in the introduction to our work, one of the main objectives of our research is attempting to improve our students' use of listening and speaking strategies. It is not only because we consider listening and speaking the most difficult skills to manipulate in real communication but also because our students have stated so through the answers to the questionnaire³. In this section we include studies concerning listening and speaking strategies of two types: those which have not shown clear results and other more optimistic studies which recommend including learning strategies "education" in the ELF classroom.

2.4.1 Research on listening strategies

Firstly, concerning listening comprehension, we will refer to O'Malley et al (1985). In their study, one of the tasks was to listen to and view a video and then answer comprehension questions. Students in the intervention group were trained to use *selective attention*, *take notes*, and *cooperate with a classmate* to review notes and listening. Results showed that strategy training had been helpful only for students who found the videos personally interesting.

Rubin et al. (1988) trained a group of high school Spanish students while listening and viewing another video. Results were compared to another group (control group) who did not have strategy instruction. The experiment didn't work as expected and, according to Chamot el alt (1990), the main results of the experience was the necessity for the teachers to design their own learning strategy lessons and teach students to use strategies for tasks that cannot be accomplished otherwise.

Ross and Rost (1991) used a Japanese group of learners studying English. The result of the research (also viewing a video and answering questions) showed that less proficient

³ This questionnaire can be seen in annex 3.

students could successfully learn to use the same questioning strategies that were used by more proficient students to increase listening comprehension. Another study of this type (Tompson and Rubin, 1996) was carried out with students of Russian. One class was taught metacognitive and cognitive strategies and the other class was not. Students who were taught strategies showed a much better control of the comprehension post-test than the control group.

A final research within the Lingua project, reported by Macaro (2001), is carried out by Mary Haynes, one of the teachers involved project. After using the instructions as a listening comprehension exercise, she found that not only did the learners understand better what they had to do but they also began to interact with her more in order to ensure that they had understood.

2.4.2 Research on speaking strategies

Speaking strategies have also been largely researched and, according to FL students, it is also a difficult skill to master. The following are some studies carried out to improve students' speaking strategies performing different tasks. From quite controlled on the part of the speaker to freer practice speaking activities.

In the first study, O'Malley and Chamot (1990), the experimental group was taught *organizational planning* for their oral reports and techniques for *cooperating* with classmates to elicit feedback. It seems clear that the students in experimental groups were significantly more comprehensible and organized in their reports than students in the control group. Time devoted to organize their oral speech had been carefully divided and steps thoughtfully sequenced.

Chamot et al. (1999) report an experimental studio with college-level EFL Egyptian students (Dadour & Robins, 1996), which resulted in students' understanding the value of strategies instruction and their desire to learn more strategies for speaking. In contrast,

Cohen at al. (1990) suggests that some students were able to acquire effective learning strategies without instruction while other students required systematic instruction and practice with learning strategies in order to learn the use of them effectively.

Concerning interaction strategies (communication strategies⁴ and reception strategies) Faerch and Kasper (1986:189) reported that middle proficiency level learners made considerable progress in using interaction strategies, and that more learners accepted the need to make and attempt even if they did not know the right word.

2.5 Learning strategies and learner training

The concept of learner training is wide-ranging, but is essentially concerned with helping learners to develop greater awareness and expertise in the following three areas: *the language learners themselves*, including exploring learners attitudes, expectations and aims, increasing awareness of learning habits and style, identifying needs and wants; *the language itself* (language awareness) and *language learning* including the development of skills for evaluation learning and practice strategies, identifying preferred strategies, assessment performance and monitoring progress, organizing learning and learning materials and exploiting language resources (Sinclair & Ellis (1992: 212)

As language learning strategies are oriented toward the goal of communicative competence and they encourage its development, they should also encourage students to be more independent outside the classroom. Based on this assumption, Wenden (1991) provides exhaustive documentation on the desirability of autonomous learning and of practical steps for developing learner autonomy, mainly on the learners taking responsibility for their own learning and developing strategies for doing so.

⁴ As we have mentioned before, communication strategies are not dealt with within the framework of this research.

Johnstone (1993) in his study of Scottish primary school pupils learning modem languages notes that, whereas the class as a whole may identify fourteen to fifteen strategies, each individual pupil may only be using two or three. The question then arises as to whether the teacher should simply accept pupils' limitations as inevitable or whether to intervene and set about teaching them the strategies they are lacking.

Are learning strategies easy to teach or modify? As we have seen above, some applied linguistic theorists suggest that this can be done through strategy training, which is an essential part of language education and helps guide learners become more conscious of strategy use. Strategy training is most effective when students learn why and when specific strategies are important, how to use these strategies and how to transfer them to new situations. Language learning strategies are flexible, that is they are not always found in predictable sequence or precise patterns; that depends on the learning choice, combination and sequence of strategies. Effective learners in listening skill areas, for example, seem to use both a "top-down" and a "bottom-up" approach. In other words, they know how to identify the general gist of the text, to attack it at a global level, as well as how to perform word for word literal translation and analysis where necessary. Low attainers, on the other hand, seem to use strategies less frequently and to have problems in knowing which strategies to use when.

The importance of making explicit how to learn is particularly relevant, given the current concern about the underachievement of many language learners. This is a highly complex area that goes well beyond the confines of the modem language classroom, and it is not within the scope of this research to discuss the issues. However, at the risk of stereotyping, if we try to identify some of the typical features that describe this particular group of underachieving language learners, we may come up with a list that includes problems like:

- poor organisational skills;
- lack of forward planning;

- unwilling/unclear about how to revise;
- unwilling/ unclear about how to memorise vocabulary set for learning homework;
- unwilling/ unclear about how to check their work;
- tendency to make 'wild guesses' when reading rather than to think things through.

(adapted from V. Harris)

Learners have been described "unwilling/unclear" because it may not be as simple as a lack of motivation. For whatever reason, it may be that some boys lack a clear grasp of how to go about their learning and so enter a vicious circle whereby they feel that it is not even worth trying and therefore make even less progress. Graham and Rees (1995) suggest that:

If pupils are helped to perceive a link between the strategies employed and the resulting outcomes, however their sense of control over their own learning could be heightened and a powerful source of motivation harnessed.

Should language teachers developed specific skills, offering pupils insights into the learning process and how best they as individuals learn? Does this fact allow language learners to take a more equal role in their own education and to develop as confident, independent learners? Research has proved, to certain extend, that strategy training can equip learners with tools that they will be able to use long after they leave school. Nunan, after concluding an action research study at the University of Hong Kong (1996) supports convincingly the idea that language classrooms should have a dual focus, not only teaching language content but also on developing learning processes as well.

There are many factors that affect the choice of strategy; for example degrees of awareness, stage of learning, task requirements, teacher expectations, age, sex, nationality, general learning style, personal traits, motivation, level and purpose for learning the language. Oxford (1990) for example, reports a study comparing learning strategies used by monolingual and multilingual adults. Multilinguals did not appear to be overall superior in learning ability, but were more flexible and had better ability to adjust their strategies to

task requirements. These variables constrain the amount of and variety of strategy use, and crucially the success of particular strategies in particular circumstances.

However, in our opinion, even at university level, learning these strategies continue to be an important element of the language learning process. Whatever the language or the level, the point is that we cannot assume that learners already have (or will acquire) strategies automatically. Language strategies are used because there is a problem to solve, an objective to meet or a goal to attain. Cognitive strategies are not easy to observe as many of them deal with mental process or cognitive functions (unconscious processes) whilst metacognitive strategies are easier to observe as they include conscious processes as planning, evaluating and arranging one's own language. The evidence is complex, but there seems to be clear suggestion from research that some strategies may be easier than others and hence acquired earlier. These are the strategies used by low attainers and tend to be at a fairly simple level. It appears that these learners fail to move on to develop the more complex strategies used by the more successful language learners.

2.6 Methods for investigating language learning and language use strategies

Researchers have developed a number of ways of obtaining information about strategic behaviour, and standards of research have developed as experience with different kinds of data and methods have been gained. Cohen (1987) discussed the shortcoming of a pure observational approach and develops the advantages of verbal report, distinguishing between instrospection and retrospection. Verbal reporting methods, usually referred to as "protocol analysis" or "think aloud" have, however, gained considerably in power, sophistication and popularity as experience with his use has increased, and methods of countering their disadvantages have been developed. Ericsson and Simon (1987, 1993) presented careful arguments for this method and this kind of data to be considered valuable and valid, under strict data-gathering conditions, refusing earlier criticism within psychology raised by Nisbett and Wilson (1977). Poulisse et al.(1987) noted that retrospective verbal reporting methods nearly doubled the number of identifications of use

of compensatory strategies over the number identified by other means such as discourse analysis, taking account also of the instances where verbal reporting disconfirmed identifications. Cohen and Scott (1996:89-105) and Cohen (1998: Chapter three) analyse the procedures, advantages and disadvantages of six methods of doing research on strategies:

- Oral interviews and written questionnaires (for example, Carrel, 1989; Oxford, 1990)
- Observation (as in O'Malley et al. 1985)
- Verbal report (as in Anderson & Vandefgrift 1996; Block, 1986)
- Diaries and Dialogue journals (Oxford, 1996)
- Recollections studies (Poulisse et al., 1987)
- Computer tracking (Baily in Oxford, 1996).

None of these methods is without problems, and there is always a danger that method predetermines the kind of results obtained. Since language learning strategies are generally internal or mentalistic processes, certain research approaches may fail to provide adequate data on learner's strategy use. Thus, designing a study that assess strategy use with some accuracy is a challenge. In the body of research on language learning strategies, researchers have used numerous assessment methods to determine patterns of strategy use among learners.

For each assessment method, there are a number of issues that the individual doing the research must consider, whether they are trained researchers or teachers without much or any research training. First, not all assessment methods are suitable for studying every type of language learning strategy, and differences in assessment according to the language skill areas being studied are an added consideration. Furthermore, each method of assessment has a certain number of options which can be manipulated by the researcher depending on the aim of the study. The following and final section of this chapter is devoted to briefly describe the methods used in our own research, mentioning some advantages and disadvantages of each one.

2.7 Methods for investigating and teaching language strategies in the present research

The methods or instruments used in the present investigation are questionnaires, diaries and teacher's notes based on observation.

2.7.1 Diaries

Since diaries are learner-generated and usually unstructured, the entries may cover a wide range of themes and issues. For example, the entries may include learners' written verbal report of the cognitive, metacognitive and social strategies that they use daily in their language learning. In their diaries learners can describe what they usually do when they o not understand the teacher's instructions or could describe a specific incident in that day's class session during which they requested clarification of the teacher's instructions.

One of the main disadvantages of diaries is that the data obtained may not support or suggest any hypotheses regarding learning strategies. Another disadvantage is that, the typically small number of subjects in diary studies restricts the ability of researchers to generalize the findings to all language learners (Bailey, 1991, Nunan, 1992)

However, diaries can be useful research tools. The aim of most diary studies is not to produce rigorous quantitative results which can be generalised to language learners as a whole; instead, diaries have been used to find out what is significant to the learners, a very important area of concern now that much research is turning away from teaching to learners and learner variables (Bailey, 1991). Furthermore, much of the data that are collected in a diary may be inaccessible through other research techniques (Nunan, 1992). In addition, diary writing may be of benefit to the students themselves because regular writing can help them become more aware of their strategies. A final advantage of diaries is that they can be kept anywhere by anyone.

2.7.2 Observation (teacher's notes)

Concerning observation (teacher's notes), a major challenge in attempting to apply observational techniques is that many of he language use and language use strategies cannot be observed since they are mentalistic and not behavioristic. In planning an observational study, the researcher needs to consider the frequency and duration of observations, and how the observational data are collected, tabulated, and analyzed. The key drawback of the observational method is its inability to produce descriptions of internal or mentalistic strategies. An observational study may yield a description of a learner's use of strategies, but this description may reflect a largely incomplete view of the learner's actual strategy use.

Nevertheless, observational methods may also have benefits –when used to describe learning strategies that are observable. In such instances, the data obtained are likely o be uniform, assuming the researcher uses the same terms to describe the same phenomena. Second, external observational records may help to lend a more impartial, objective perspective to the research study, rather than having the study rely solely on data provided by learners. In fact, learners may sometimes alter strategy descriptions according to what they think are socially acceptable answers.

2.7.3 Questionnaires

Written questionnaires elicit learners' responses to a set of questions or probes. It requires the researcher to make choices regarding question formal and research procedures. Questions can range from those that ask for yes-no responses or indications of frequency (e.g. "never", "seldom", "sometimes", "often", and "always") o less structured questions asking respondents to describe or discuss language learning strategy behaviour in detail. In structured questionnaires the researcher has a specific set of questions that are to be answered by the respondent in a set order. In this case the researcher has complete control over the questioning, and the respondent usually does not have an opportunity to elaborate on the answers. The data obtained from this type of questionnaire are uniformly organised for all respondents and lend themselves to statistical analysis. An example of a structured language strategy questionnaire survey is Oxford' *Strategy Inventory for Language Learning (SILL)*, Oxford, (1990), already mentioned in 2.3.

Written questionnaires are usually administered to large groups of learners and/or to groups at various sites. A major benefit of large-scale surveys is the potential for generating and testing hypothesis because of the large number of respondents. On the other hand, a given survey may no transfer well from one setting to another, either because there are significant differences in the way hat he questionnaire is administered or because the respondents in the different sites differ in how they interpret the items. This could be especially true if the measure is translated and used in different cultures around the world (see Oxford, 1996).

One of the main problems with written questionnaires as a whole is that much of the data constitutes self-report or the learners' generalized statements about their strategy use. Once learners move away from instances of language learning or language use behaviour, hey may also tend to become less accurate about their actual strategy use behaviour (Cohen, 1987). Learners may overestimate or underestimate the frequency of use of certain strategies. They may also be unaware of when they are using a given strategy, and even more importantly, how they are using it.

3. INTERVENTION STUDY A (UCA-MANAGUA)

3.0 Introduction: Why two intervention studies

Even though students learn English as a foreign Language in many different places in Nicaragua, the way they learn it and how it is taught depends mainly on the institution where they chose for this purpose. And the objectives they have for learning the language: to become a teacher, to travel, to understand movies, because it is the fashion, for jobs reasons, etc.

The universities involved in this research study differ in the kind of English teaching program they offer to students. While UNAN- Managua offers only an ELT program and ESP courses, UCA offers English courses for a wider range of purposes such as an ELT program, ESP courses and English as a foreign language courses. Thus, researchers decided to carry out two intervention studies in these two different contexts in order to present a more representative picture of the kind of learning strategies English students use since these two universities have the highest population of English students in Nicaragua. Researchers also thought that it would be important to study learning strategy use in these two contexts as they have different population of students who differ mainly in terms of socio-economic status, learning conditions and the kind of curriculum. We though that, it was important to take into account this aspect for the purpose of comparing results gathered in these two contexts.

The Strategies used by the researchers in each experimental group were almost the same, but some changes were made because of the context in which they were used and the students who used them.

3.1 Methodological design

For this research, two groups of English students were required: the experimental group and the control group. The experimental group received the language learning strategy training; the control group which didn't receive any training was compared to the experimental one after the strategy training program.

Both, the experimental and control groups were attending first level English courses at the Language Institute of the Central American University in Managua. The researcher chose the experimental group among the ones she teaches regularly because she wanted to see how strategy worked with "false beginners". The researcher taught the experimental group while the control group was taught by someone else in order to avoid influencing it.

3.1.1 Methodology

The methodology adopted in this language learning strategy program included the following aspects considered as relevant:

- Determination of the language learning needs and the time available
- Selection of strategies in order to fulfill students needs
- Level of motivation
- Preparation of material and strategies
- Implementation of training
- Evaluation of strategies

In order to quantify the learners' needs and the level of motivation, a pre-test in the form of a survey was administrated to the control and experimental groups, to determine which strategies students had already been using and the level of motivation they had. Then, the previously designed strategy program was implemented. The training program was aimed at implementing strategies use in the classroom. Some pre–designed scaffolding materials were used to reinforce the strategies being practiced. Finally, a post-test survey was administered to evaluate the effectiveness of the strategy training program.

3.1.2 Population and sample

Population

Students participating in this strategy training program were taking the English Free courses at the Language Institute of Central American University, (UCA). These students are interested in learning English; the classes are expensive for Nicaraguans and not everybody can afford them, so enrollment is low.

Classes range from 8 to 22 students. Classrooms are small and basic equipments such as language laboratory, cassettes, CDs and videos, are available to make learning more attractive and interesting.

In order to pass each course students have to obtain an average of 80% in a series of evaluation tests that assess proficiency and progress of the four language skills. There are no make-up tests. If a student fails, he or she has to take the course again. The courses last for six weeks.

First Level students at Central American University come from private and public high schools where they have the opportunity to study English, but contents vary considerably. In private high schools, the four language skills are taught and modern textbooks are employed, whilst in public schools, English is taught without all basic material. Students also come from other language institutes and schools; there are students who have traveled and have some knowledge of the English language but want to improve.

Sample

The students who participated in the language training program were first level English students at the language Institute of the Central American University in Managua. This course was run in the afternoon. Classes were taught four times a week, for 90 minutes. The language learning strategy program lasted six-week; that means 50 hours of class. No significant changes were made in the class syllabus.

The experimental group was made of 8 students: 5 teenagers and 3 young adults aged between 21 and 30. There were 5 women and 3 men in this group. The control group was made of 9 students: 6 women and 3 men aged between 18 and 35.

3.1.3 Data collection and instruments

The instruments used in the data collection process were a student questionnaire, student diaries and teacher notes. As mentioned previously in 2.7 these tools had proved to be effective as data collection instruments, in fact they were used to elicit information before, during and after the training program.

Student Questionnaire (see 2.7.3)

The questionnaire was intended to find out the level of motivation of students, the degrees of difficulties and importance attributed to the language skills and the role of teacher personality in language learning. The final part of this questionnaire was prepared in order to find out what strategies students had been using before the strategy training program. To get the final version of this questionnaire a first draft was made and piloted with a group of students.

This questionnaire was administrated as a pre and post-test survey in order to record information before the language training program and to verify if changes were made afterwards (see annex 3).

Scaffolding material

Scaffolding materials were used as supporting materials to reinforce strategy practice, i.e. questions to be answered, gaps to be filled or suggested activities to be done in or outside the class for recording the information about the strategy used. (See annex 4 for more examples). The example below tries to focus students' attention on specific information collected outside the classroom.

Example of a scaffolding page	
Listening outside the class	
Name:	Date:
What I listened to?	
A video titled	
A song by	titled
A TV program about	
	and
Other	
Topic	
What words or expressions did you lea	arn?

Student diaries (see 2.7.1)

Student diaries were used by student to summarize classes, evaluate strategies used during the training program, to record their feelings and emotions and to monitor their learning: "Diaries or journals are forms of self-report which allow learners to record their thought, feelings, achievements and programs as well as their impressions of teachers, fellow students and native speakers" (Oxford 1990: 198)

Teacher's notes (see 2.7.2)

They were notes taken by the teacher about the development of the training program, students' reactions to the strategy learning process implemented, and ideas on how to improve the training program.

Teacher's observations were used to find out changes in students' behavior while they were experimenting strategy use, to understand if changes were necessary, if practice was insufficient or if explanations were adequate for students to use the strategies in the class activities.

3.2 RESULT OF PRE-TEST SURVEY

3.2.1 Experimental group

The first part of the questionnaire (see annex 3) was intended to find out how motivated students were; the second to provide information on which of the four skills they considered being more difficult. The third part gave information on which abilities or skills were considered the most relevant and the reasons for their choice. The fourth part of the questionnaire was dedicated to see how the teacher's personality affects the learning process. The final part, as we said before, attempted to find out which strategies were more developed on the side of the students, and which ones they had given more attention during their previous language studies, without being aware of it. In this last part of the questionnaire they had to mention which were the most used strategies and the frequency of their usage in their learning process.

The first aspect to be considered in the questions was what kind of motivation they had. The result of the pre-test survey showed that 89% of the students studied English because they liked it, only 11% believed that it would be helpful for getting or improving job opportunities.

Since most of the students that took part of this training program were teenagers, they were not aware of the importance that learning English could have in getting a job, only part of the young adults realized that it would be helpful in facilitating job opportunities.

Concerning what students consider the most important skills, 44% of them thought that the most important one was speaking; according to them "speaking involved the other abilities", "it is better to communicate with other people", "it is important to communicate at work". The remaining 56 % considered the four skills to be equally important. Students said: "I am interested in learning the four language skills"; "A language is not only spoken, but also listened".



As for the most difficult skill to be learned, 37% of students considered listening to be the most difficult, but a similar percentage was obtained by writing (38%); the remaining 25% thought that none of the skills was difficult.



Listening implies several cognitive abilities; among them, students need to recognize the sounds produced but also to be familiar with the meaning of the words spoken to understand the message the speaker wants to convey. As students normally practice listening skills listening to their teacher, they get familiar with the language used in class by the teacher; on the other hand, they get confused when listening to native English speakers or recorded materials.

The teacher's personality was mentioned as important in the language learning process; 77% of students said that the way a teacher motivates their students is the most important quality of a teacher: "teacher inspires me to learn more and more every day"; "the teacher has to make the class attractive"; "teacher's attitude results in students' interest in learning". The idea that teacher is the one who makes students learn still prevails in most of the institutions in Nicaragua. Students expect the teacher to do what it is necessary for them to learn the language and sometimes, because they pay for attending the course, they expect "to learn" as a kind of reward.

When questioned orally by the teacher about the strategies they used, students mentioned:

- Repeating new words and associated with already known vocabulary. (45%)
- Practicing with someone else (21%)

35

- Reviewing (11%)
- No strategy use (22%)

Later on, when students were given a list of strategies they listed a variety of them, though it must be pointed out that there could be a difference between strategies reported using and actually using by students. Strategies that students said they used more often were *listening to music in English* (63%); the same percentage was obtained by *repeating new words or writing them many times*; another highly used strategy was *using a dictionary* and *reading books or magazines in English*. (See table 1 below with detailed percentage).

Table 1 Experimental group. Strategy use pre-test survey results					
	%	%	%		
1. Using a dictionary	37.5	50	12.5		
2. Reading books or magazines in English	12.5	62.5	25		
3. Writing down unknown words in sentences	25	37.5	37.5		
4. Reviewing English lessons frequently	25	75	0		
5. Repeating or writing down new words several	50	25	25		
times					
6. Summarizing lessons	12.5	50	37.5		
7. Listening to music in English	62.5	37.5	0		
8. Watching movies and TV programs in English	50	50	0		
9. Watching videos oriented in class	0	37.5	62.5		
10. Seeking practice opportunities with English speaking people	12.5	75	12.5		
11. Seeking practice opportunities with native English	12.5	75	12.5		
speaking people					
12. Centering attention in listening exercises, and	75	25	0		
50	37.5	12.5			
------	--	--			
37.5	37.5	25			
37.5	62.5	0			
25	50	25			
0	12.5	87.5			
0	0	100			
0	12.5	87.5			
25	75	0			
0	50	50			
62.5	37.5	0			
50	12.5	37.5			
25	75	0			
0	0	100			
	37.5 37.5 25 0 0 0 25 0 62.5 50 25	37.5 37.5 37.5 62.5 25 50 0 12.5 0 0 0 12.5 25 75 0 50 62.5 37.5 50 12.5 50 12.5 50 50 62.5 37.5 50 12.5 25 75 50 12.5 25 75 50 12.5 25 75			

3.3.2 Control group

According to the answers given to the questionnaire, the control group had similar characteristics: 55% said they were learning English because they liked it, 33% because of job's reasons and 12% because they wanted to travel. In the control group strategies reported as commonly used were watching videos and movies in English and working with a partner. Although this is a first level course, the amount of strategies used students

reported is considerable large as well as the frequency of their usage. For fully detailed information see tables and graphics in annex n.5.2.

3.4 Strategy Training

The strategy program was designed after having a clear picture of the strategies students already used. The main objective of the program was to train students to become more proficient in language learning. According to the pre-test survey results, listening was one of the most difficult ability and speaking one of the most important for students; for this reason, more emphasis was given to strategies used to improve listening and speaking, and to *memory, social, affective* and *compensation* strategies that support their development.

According to the groups' characteristics and the content of the syllabus, the following strategies were selected⁵:

⁵ This classification of learning strategies was taken from Rebecca Oxford

Table 2

Summary of the strategies applied in the strategy training program¹

Group	Strategy Set	Strategy
	Creating mental linkages	Associating / elaborating
Memory		Placing new words into a context
	Review	Reviewing well (structure reviewing)
Cognitive		Summarizing
	Centering your learning	Paying attention: selective and directive attention
	Arranging and planning your	Setting goals and objectives
Metacognitive	learning	• Planning for a language task (Using a
		dictionary)
		• Seeking practice opportunities
	Evaluating your learning	Self evaluating
	T	TT ' 1 / 1
	Lowering your anxiety	Using progressive relaxation, deep
Affective		breathing or meditation
		Listening to songs in class
	Taking your emotional temperature	Writing a language learning diary

	Cooperating with others	Cooperating with peers
Social	Overcoming limitations in speaking	Getting help

In the following lines a brief description of the implementation of these strategies is given.

To practice **memory strategies** in this training program *associating/elaborating, placing new words into a context and reviewing well* strategies were used. In *associating/elaborating* students associated the vocabulary they needed to memorize for a specific activity to already known words to remember the new vocabulary. After this strategy was practiced once in the training students decided that it was much more difficult than the one they used before the training that was repeating or writing down words several times. For *placing new words into a context* a scaffolding page was given to students, words were placed according to the part of the speech the word was, and used in meaningful contexts. The new words were taken from the new vocabulary encountered in each class. (See some examples of scaffolding material in annex n. 4). The words chosen varied depending on individual's differences of the students. In the same category, *reviewing well*, some exercises were used by the teacher and done by students to review the content studied regularly, after every unit of class.

Among **cognitive strategies**, the one used in this training program was *summarizing*. Students were asked to write a summary of every English class. The summary included: topic of the lesson, grammar structure or function studied and examples students provided.

One of the **metacognitive** strategies used in this training program was *paying attention;* this strategy was used before listening activities, and a scaffolding page was prepared. It started by helping students taking their emotional temperature by asking about how they felt; then, there was a question to make students focus their attention on the listening activity, after that students were asked to predict about the listening exercise they were about to listen to. Questions continued to lead students to what they had to listen to for

understanding: overall meaning, certain items or a few details. Students also had to identify key words in the listening exercise. Paying attention strategies were used to guide students to concentrate and avoid any distractions. Also *listening to songs* was used to focus students' attention on specific information when listening.

Another metacognitive strategy used was *setting goals and objectives*. At the beginning of the language learning strategy program students mentioned their personal objectives for taking their English Language Course. Objectives were written on their notebooks to be checked eventually.

Planning for a language task was widely used before challenging speaking activities such as presentations, role-plays and scenarios. Interviews and asking questions required students planning on how to properly perform the speaking task. Planning involved describing the task, comparing what they already knew to accomplish the task and determining other elements necessary to undertake the task. Their learning dictionary was incorporated to allow students manage the vocabulary required for the speaking activities.

Students interviewed English speaking people to get information based on questions they had previously elaborated under the teacher supervision in *seeking practice opportunities*. *Listening to songs* was also used outside the classroom. Outside the class, aided by a scaffolding sheet, students listened to songs to measure how many words or expressions they were able to understand. Moreover, they reinforced dictionary use by looking up the meanings of the words or expressions heard. In addition, students tried to summarize the message the singer tried to convey.

In *self evaluation* students objectively assessed their learning, pointing out their weaknesses and strengths. For example they wrote: "I think I'm doing quite a good job, I do my homework although I don't hand it in on time, I practice, study but I'm a little lazy in using my dictionary. I prefer the teacher to write the meanings of words on the board…" Students had some practice when evaluating their achievements, weaknesses and strong points in language learning.

Students used a special notebook for *writing a diary*. In the diary, they wrote a summary of lessons, which they considered quite useful: They wrote things like: "Today I learned some expressions such as: open my book, close my book. I also learned how to spell, colors, numbers..."; "Today we learned about how to make questions and answer them. The teacher gave us the idea and we made the questions..."

Furthermore, activities were commented and evaluated in the diary. Also, the evaluation of the language learning strategies was commented. For instance, when asked about memory strategies, and more exactly, mental association they said: "I used numbers and associated with some words similar to the number and it worked..."; "To memorize the spelling of ordinal numbers I used this strategy which helped me because they were being related to words similar in pronunciation and spelling..." (See annex n° 6 for more examples)

Among **affective strategies**, the ones implemented were *relaxation strategies*, which were used to lower the amount of stress students felt in the class. They also practiced *deep breathing* to avoid anxiety. These strategies were used before challenging speaking and listening tasks.

Feelings and emotions about the lessons and class environment were also expressed: "From today's class nothing was difficult for me. I liked the methodology because we read, practiced and played games that helped us to develop ourselves. I suggest that you provide us with a complete list of vocabulary."

Among the social strategies used, *working with peers* and *getting help* were implemented. In *working with peers* strategies, class activities required peer and group work every day. Students had the responsibility to do their job consciously. To develop *getting help strategies* students were given a list of questions to be used when they needed some information from their classmates and teacher. For example, "How do you say...?", "May I borrow your dictionary", etc... The list was enlarged as context became more complex.

These strategies were repeatedly used in and outside class. All of them were explicitly explained in Spanish. Students practiced them for about 15-20 minutes; listening strategies took more time because the students needed to understand the scaffolding page. Moreover, they had to answer some questions before the listening activities and do the exercises required. Listening strategies were practiced about 2-3 times a week, but listening exercises in a class period were about 3. Peer work and asking for help strategies were practiced in class with a frequency of 3-5 times in an average class.

Seeking practice opportunities, placing words into a context and writing a diary were strategies also used outside the classroom. Seeking practice opportunities strategies were observed by the teacher only once, because she ran into an interview after class accidentally. Placing words into a context was done as homework.

3.4 Results of post-test survey

3.5.1 Experimental group

After the training program all students said that they thought their level of proficiency had improved considerably. Furthermore, students also mentioned that they had enjoyed many of the activities that had taken place in and outside the classroom during the training program. The ones they considered their favorites were games, role-plays, presentations, in and outside interviews because all of them involved class participation. Moreover, all of them also believed that doing homework helped them learn more vocabulary and thought that after the training it was much easier to communicate in English.

Concerning listening comprehension, 62.5% of them mentioned that when working in pairs their partners understood almost everything. When considering understanding a listening exercise, they said they understood considerably more than at the beginning of the course: 50% said they understood very much, 37.5% understood quite a lot, and 12.5% only a little.

In their opinion, using the dictionary, asking questions and their own interest in learning had helped them highly improve their proficiency. When answering about how they felt before presentation, 75% of them said that they felt more confident and relaxed; 62.5% of them said that they thought the skills they had developed further during the course were listening and speaking; 25% mentioned speaking and reading; 12.5% speaking.

Additionally, students showed some variation in the frequency of strategy use: according to the post-test survey, the one that showed a greater increase was *centering attention* in listening exercises; all of them said they always practiced it (see table 3 for more details). The second strategy that showed a considerably increase was *summarizing*: 87% of the students said they always did summaries after every lesson, whilst only 12.5 % said that they sometimes summarized the English lessons.

The strategies that followed were: *using a dictionary, reviewing* English lessons frequently, and *using relaxation* strategies. These strategies obtained 62.5 % each in the always column, using a dictionary scored 25% in the sometimes column and 12.5% in the never column. *Reviewing lessons* frequently got 37.5 % in the sometimes column, and the same score was obtained by *relaxation strategies*. Compared to the pre-test survey, this means that after the training program, students reviewed their lessons more frequently than they used to do before; they were also aware that some classroom situations had made them feel stressed, and that looking up words in a dictionary was an effective technique.

Listening to music in English outside the class showed a slight decrease (13%), this may be due to the fact that they devoted more time to this strategy inside the class. *Watching TV programs* in English remained exactly the same, because students were presented with the

opportunity to choose among listening to songs, videos and conversations and they chose the one they preferred.

Another strategy that increased was *peer working*; 50% of the students said they always practiced it, and 50% said they sometimes did it. This might be due to peer and group work which was regularly practiced in class activities. Exactly the same amount was obtained by *setting goals and objectives;* students got some practice in setting goals and objectives by doing this regularly during the training. Each student decided how to do this, for example, "my objectives today are, to practice the use of like", "to memorize new words"

Writing words into a context showed some increase in the always and sometimes choice: 37.5 % said they always did it and 67.5 % said they did it sometimes. *Inferring* got exactly the same percentage which means also an increase in its use.

By implementing strategy use in the classroom, students had the opportunity to find out which strategies were more useful for them in a specific learning situation. Moreover, they were able to choose the ones they liked the most or facilitated their learning, devoting more time to practice them. In table 3 below, it can be observed that some strategies that were not part of the training program also showed a considerably increase. For example, 75 % of students said they always practiced *writing and repeating words*, and 25% said now they sometimes practiced it.

To sum up, the use and implementation of these strategies resulted in students' change of attitude in the following aspects:

- Interaction among students improved.
- Students were more able to monitor their learning.
- They were able to evaluate their own progress.
- Controlling their emotions and fears resulted in a better performance.
- Asking for help was done when required.
- Reviewing extended not only to listening and speaking but also to reading and writing.

Table 3 Experimental group. Comparisons of strategy use in pre and post- test						
Strategy	Always		Sometimes		Never	
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
1. Using a dictionary	38	62.5	50	25	12.5	12.5
2. Reading books or magazines in English	13	50	62.5	50	25	25
3. Writing down unknown words in sentences	25	37.5	37.5	62.5	37.5	0
4. Reviewing English lessons frequently	25	62.5	75	37.5	0	0
5. Repeating or writing down new words several times	50	75	25	25	25	0
6. Summarizing lessons	13	87.5	50	12.5	37.5	0
7. Listening to music in English	63	50	37.5	50	0	0
8. Watching movies and TV programs in English	50	50	50	50	0	0
9. Watching videos oriented in class	0	0	37.5	25	62.5	62.5
10. Seeking practice opportunities with English						
speaking people	13	12.5	75	37.5	12.5	12.5
11. Seeking practice opportunities with native English						
speaking people	13	25	75	75	12.5	0
12. Centering attention in listening exercises, and						
avoiding any distraction	75	100	25	0	0	0
13. Identifying the purpose of a listening exercise, if it's						
general or specific and paying attention to it.	50	37.5	37.5	50	12.5	12.5
14. Working with y classmates or in groups and						
helping each other	38	50	37.5	50	25	0
15. Trying to relax if feeling nervous when saying						
something in English	38	62.5	62.5	37.5	0	0
16. Predicting before listening activities	25	12.5	50	87.5	25	0
17. When you don't know how to say a word in a						
conversation you:	0	0	12.5	0	87.5	100

46

a) don't say anything						
b) Use gestures	0	0	0	0	100	100
c) Use synonyms	0	12.5	12.5	0	87.5	87.5
d) Ask somebody how to say it	25	37.5	75	62.5	0	0
18. Listening to the news or other radio programs in						
English	0	0	50	62.5	50	37.5
19. Planning before an English speaking activity	63	50	37.5	37.5	0	12.5
20. Setting objectives in learning English	50	50	12.5	50	37.5	0
21. Inferring what an activity is about by looking at the						
pictures or at an idea presented	25	37.5	75	62.5	0	0

This information can be seen graphically in annex n. 5.1

3.5.2 Control Group

As we said before, the control and experimental groups showed similar characteristics when they took their pre-test survey. Both of them said they used a variety of strategies. But after the training program, the two groups showed some marked differences. Just by studying these percentages of the post-test survey result in the control group (For a more detailed statistic description of this see annex 5.2-5.3) it was clearly seen that there were different opinions, feelings and understanding about the class processes and situations in the same classroom. Some students felt very relaxed while others could not get rid of their stress, and when considering the elements that helped them to learn more, the teacher was mentioned. Also everyone had his or her own opinion about sharing learning responsibilities, for instance, for these students it is the teacher who makes students learn. In addition, responsibility is not equally shared by the participants of the learning process. Students blame "time factor" for not doing their work.

In the control group, some students developed their own strategies as a result of every day class, they looked for ways to solve their learning problems and some were unable to do so; for that reason, they did not improve in the strategy use. They did what they could to learn

the language. Some succeeded in this process; some thought that the learning process was taking place at a very fast speed and were unable to keep up with it. Learning was a kind of competition where the strongest succeeded, but there were no opportunities for the weak ones. Students who succeeded in learning the language felt motivated while the ones that did not do so had a feeling of confusion and failure. Everything around them was too fast for them to be assimilated.

On the other hand, in the experimental group learning was a homogeneous process for all the students. Learning did not present very serious problems, because they asked for extra explanation when it was considered to be necessary. Furthermore, they were more motivated and willing to do in and outside class assignments. Students were involved in the class process as a unified group. They were not trying to beat one another, on the contrary, they helped one another to share information and collaborate with their classmates. Moreover, they believed that they could learn from their classmates, the teacher was not the only source for learning. Being the best student in class was not so important because the entire class could share the same honor. Asking for help was one of the tools they manipulated as required. The teacher did not have to assume what was understood and what was not, they were beginning to learn to be responsible for their own learning.

3.6 CONCLUSIONS

The implementation of language learning strategies in this course allowed students to get to know some strategies that were not in their repertoire before. Furthermore, these strategies in a way or another facilitated their learning and provided students with tools to become more independent. Moreover, some changes were observed in student's attitude toward learning the English language which resulted in improving their performance; their motivation rose considerable, they had the opportunity to approach a task in different ways that resulted in improving their proficiency.

Group and pair work became a rewarding experience where students learned from each other. The interaction among students themselves and teacher-students became more effective. With strategy use, we believe, students will not need to be told what to do to solve language problems, they will be able to analyze, make their own decisions, monitor themselves and perform. Learning became a rewarding experience for students because it provided more appealing elements which were incorporated to the learning process to make it more attractive. Controlling their emotions and fears resulted in a better learning atmosphere which allowed students to ask for help whenever they considered it was necessary. Moreover, motivation increased considerably which led students to have a more positive attitude to class work. Besides, learning became a more conscious process which permitted students to evaluate their own performance.

Although students did not like some of the strategies that were part of their training they had the opportunity to try, analyze and test their usefulness and continue using the ones they had before the training, the ones implemented in the training or create their own ones.

This strategy training program benefited not only students, but also the teacher who learned from the program because it was a enriching process which gave her the opportunity to improve professionally.

4. INTERVENTION STUDY B (UNAN-MANAGUA)

4.0 Introduction

This case study has consisted in implementing a strategy program aimed at improving students' strategy use. The strategy program was based on the result of a questionnaire administered to students before the program and finalized at finding out actual students' strategy use. This questionnaire contains (pre-test) some general questions and a choice of strategies use (see annex 10). The same questionnaire about strategy use was given again after the implementation of the training program in order to measure changes. It also included some questions to evaluate the strategy training in general (see annex 11). With the data obtained some conclusions and recommendations have been elaborated and these will appear at the end of this work.

4.1 Methodological Design

This study is the kind of action research, which usually requires two matching groups representative of the total population. One of the groups is the experimental group and the other is the control group. The chosen groups to be the experimental and the control one are the first year students taking the English Major at UNAN–Managua. Most students in these groups seem to be interested in learning English; others come to this major because they could not fulfill the requirements needed for the major they were interested in. The strategy-training program was administered to the experimental group during 8 weeks and the reason to apply this program in the first year was because most of these students come from public secondary schools where English is not considered an 'essential' subject for the students' academic instruction and not all language skills are developed. Therefore, their level of proficiency in English course on their own. The first year groups are usually large, they range from 30 to 40 students in a classroom.

4.1.1 Constructing the strategy training program

As we said before, the strategy program has been constructed upon the results of a questionnaire handed out to know the students' level of motivation to study English at the university, their opinion about the importance and difficulties of the four skills, the influence of the teacher's attitude on learning a language, and the type of learning strategies they had used to learn English.

Based on the information gathered about the questions mentioned above; a strategy training program was designed to be applied in the classroom. The training program incorporated some strategies which were intended to fulfill the students' needs to develop listening and speaking mainly. Some scaffolding material was also designed to check how much work students were doing until they got into the habit of practicing the given strategies. Scaffolding material in this study consisted of a series of learning activities designed to provide learners some kind of support to perform more independently in the classroom. They involved some kind of strategies incorporated in every lesson.

This scaffolding material was gradually less controlled to facilitate learners' independence. At the end of the strategy training the same questionnaire about strategies given at the beginning was administered to check the effectiveness of the strategy program.

To verify the validity of the questionnaire to be applied before and after the strategy training to the experimental and control group, it was first piloted with another group of English students who had been studying for a semester at the university (pilot group). Moreover, the strategy training was also applied to this group. The purpose of doing this was to check the validity of the questions and also to try out the implementation of some strategies training in the classroom before carrying out the actual strategy training for this research study.

4.1.2 Population and Sample

The population of this study was composed of all the first year students of the English Major at the National Autonomous University of Nicaragua, UNAN Managua, Ruben Dario Campus, with a total amount of 180 students, in three different shifts (morning, afternoon and Saturday) with two groups in each shift. Their ages range from 17 to 20. They can be considered false beginners as they have some previous knowledge of English learnt at secondary school. The control group was selected according to similar characteristics to the experimental group.

The selected research sample which contains the necessary characteristics of the population for this study was the first level group A, from the morning shift. These students attend classes three times a week, for a total of 10 hours per week.

4.1.3 Instruments and data collection procedure

The instruments used to gather the information were a student questionnaire, a student diary and teacher self- evaluation notes.

Student questionnaire

It was decided to use a questionnaire as the main instrument to get data for this research because researchers have often used it for broad areas in strategy use. On the one hand, the questionnaire allows the researcher to include both less-structured and more-structured questions (see 2.7.3), and on the hand it is usually administered to large groups, as it is the case of this study. The questionnaire used in this work contains a combination of questions, some of them are less structures-part I- and others are more- structured -part II (see annex

10 and 11 for pre and post test). The purpose of this combination was to get broad answers in some of the general questions, and to facilitate the data analysis about the use of strategies.

This questionnaire was administered to students before and after the strategy training, and it was used as a pre-test and a post-test. Based on this information, a language learning strategy training program was designed to fulfill the students' needs.

The post-test was applied at the end of strategy training program in order to get information about the influence and effectiveness of the use of strategies during the program and the students' opinions about that kind of training.

Students Diaries

Diaries were also used to gather information since they are unstructured and allow the researcher to know what learner do to learn on their own, what is significant to them, their feelings, achievements and problems. (see 2.7.1). Therefore, this study used diaries with different purposes: as a strategy itself, to record summaries of each lesson taught during the strategy training. Learners also had to write about things they found easy or difficult to learn, as well as commentaries and opinions regarding the strategies used. The diaries were checked by the teacher every week so that she could take note of the students' commentaries, tasks and progress.

Teacher self-evaluation notes

These consisted on recordings or accounts of the events or situations related to the objectives of the strategy training program. These also included the teacher's reflections and assessment of those moments or situations in each lesson in which students worked using certain learning strategies and did activities related to the objectives of the strategy training program. These teachers' notes helped the researcher get feedback to improve the strategy training as well as to analyze the effectiveness of strategy use and students' perceptions about them.

3.2 Analysis of the pre-test results

In order to consider the students' needs, a pre-test was administered which was divided into five major areas. This pre-test attempted to find out:

- 1. How motivated students were to learn the language;
- 2. Which of the four language skills they considered more difficult;
- 3. Which of the four language skills they considered more important;
- 4. The influence of the teacher's attitude on the learning process;
- 5. Which strategies students had used inside and outside the classroom for language learning purposes.

All these categories are important for this study because we, as teachers, deal with different learners, who learn, think and feel differently. Consequently, to know their level of motivation to study English at the university with the intention of being English teachers has helped us to focus the training program. We also consider important for the research the second area -the level of importance students give the four skills, as it would be different whether they give the same importance to all the skills or consider some of them more important than the others. The purpose of the third area –the skills students find more difficult to learn- is to identify which skills they consider to be more difficult to develop when learning a language. This information would help us emphasize the skills that need to be reinforced during the training program The fourth category, referred to the teacher's attitude, is also a significant component to consider when designing a strategy training program because the way the teacher makes learning more effective and more enjoyable can be a positive or negative influence on the learning process. Finally, the last area is related to the use of learning strategies which is the main objective of this research.

The results of the pre-test regarding the level of motivation reflected that 93% of the students were motivated to learn English, however, only 36% of them wanted to be English teachers. The remaining said they studied English because they were interested in the language, because of their jobs or because they did not have another option. This means that the majority of learners described in this context are interested in learning the language (see Table 1 below).

Table 1					
Level of motivation to study English					
	F	%			
Interested in the language	14	50%			
For travel	0	-			
For the job	2	7%			
To be an English teacher	10	36%			
Because I had no options	2	7%			

Table 2 (see below) shows the level of importance that the four skills have for these students. 53% of students consider that the four language skills are very important. However, for some students not all the skills are equally important. For instance, despite the fact that some of them considered the four skills very important, 71% of them reported *listening and speaking* as very important as well. *Writing* was given 25% in the category of "very important" and *reading* was very important only for 7%. Among the reasons they gave to explain their choices were: "listening and speaking are essential to communicate with others", "we have to understand to keep a conversation going on". "All of them are very important because the language has to be learnt completely", "If we are going to be English teachers, we have to master all the abilities for this language". The reasons for considering writing and reading under the category "important" were, among others: "reading is easy and we can learn through it", and "writing helps to consolidate the other skills".

Table 2								
Level of imp	Level of importance of the four skills for students							
	Very	%	Important	%	Not	SO	%	
	important				important			
Listening &					' _			
speaking	20	71%	8	29%				
Writing	7	25%	18	64%	3		11%	
Reading	2	7%	15	54%	11			
All of them	15	53%	13					

With regard to the skills more difficult to learn, (see Table 3 below) *listening and speaking* again obtained the highest percentages, (43% and 29% respectively). However, a considerable percentage (21%) said that writing is the most difficult skill and only for 7% of them reading is the most difficult. The majority (71%) coincides that the most important abilities to learn English are listening and speaking, but at the same time they consider these skills to be the most difficult to acquire.

Table 3				
Skill more difficult to learn				
	F	%		
Listening	12	43%		
Speaking	8	29%		
Reading	2	7%		
Writing	6	21%		
All of them	0	0%		

It can be inferred that students' perception regarding listening and speaking skills seems to be logical since they did not have much training in these two skills in the secondary school program, and therefore, they find them difficult to develop. Another possible explanation for these results is the fact that students are studying English in an EFL context where there are limited learning opportunities to get involved in spoken interaction.

In the fourth question, with regard to the influence of the teacher's attitude on learning a language, students reported that teacher's encouragement, confidence, dynamics and creativity influence learning greatly. It shows that the majority considers the teacher's attitude as an important component in the learning process (see Table 4).

Table 4						
Influence of teacher's attitude in language learning						
	Great	%	A little	%	None	
Encouraging	22	79%	6	21%		
Confidence	20	71%	8	29%		
Dynamic	24	86%	4	14%		
Creative	18	64%	10	36%		
Strict	12	43%	7	25%	9	32%

Teachers' attitude to the teaching-learning process is another important issue for these students. They consider that some aspects of the teacher's personality make the learning process more efficient and enjoyable. The statistics show that encouragement, dynamics, creativity and confidence are characteristics that learners consider an important part of a successful language learning program.

The last area (related to the strategies students thought they had been using) showed that students have a limited repertoire of strategy use. The strategies most commonly used by some students were: "using a dictionary" (36%), "reading books and magazines" (29%), "listening to music in English" (43%), and 'looking for a synonym when they do not know the right word (43%). The remaining percentage said that they "sometimes" or "never" practice these strategies (see table 5 below).

	Always	sometimes	never
	%	%	%
I write a language learning diary	0	0	100
I use a dictionary*	36	18	46
I read books or magazines *	29	18	53
Use new English words in a sentence	7	11	82
I review English lessons often	7	11	82
I say or write new English words several times *	11	11	78
I make summaries of information of new language material	0	0	100
I listen to music in English	43	25	32
I listen to news or another program from the radio in English *	14	11	75
I watch TV programs and films in English	18	11	71
I watch videos in class	0	0	0
I look for opportunities to talk to people in English	11	28	61
I seek opportunities to talk with native speakers *	7	11	82
I clearly identify the purpose of a listening task: general or specific and direct my attention on this	18	32	50
I concentrate on the listening tasks and avoid any distractions	21	50	29
I evaluate my own progress in the new language	14	21	65
I predict what I will listen to	14	11	75
I cooperate with my partner to help each other	21	14	54
I breath deeply and try to relax whenever I feel afraid of using English	14	25	61
When I cannot think of a word during a conversation:			
a. I avoid talking	21	43	36
b. I use gestures	0	11	89
c. I look for a synonym	43	29	29
d. I ask for help	18	29	46

 Table 5 Strategies used by the students before the strategy training.

Introduction

The results of the control group are very similar to the experimental group results. According to the data obtained, the strategies students used more frequently were: *using a dictionary, reading books or magazines, listening to music in English, watching TV programs, review English lessons often and getting help* when they do not know something. As it can be observed both groups were using almost the same strategies, except that in the control group some students *review English lessons and get help* when they did not know a word more frequently than the experimental group. These results of the control group reflect only the findings regarding the use of strategies because the researchers were mainly interested in gathering information about learning strategies used by this group. Another reason was because these data were necessary to compare the effectiveness of the strategy training applied to the experimental group.

It is very interesting to observe that some strategies were given a very low rate by students, strategies which, in our view, are very important for language learning purposes as they involve more interaction among students and between students and other speakers. Examples of these strategies are: 'I look for opportunities to talk to people in English', 'I seek for opportunities to talk to native speakers', I evaluate my own progress'. It can be observed that the two groups reflect almost the same use of strategies which could be inferred as lack of opportunities to practice in a real context or that these strategies have not properly been included in the language learning program at secondary school.

As these strategies are almost non-existent in the students' performance, these results could be also interpreted as reflecting little (or lack of) culture of interacting and using the target language in every day communication, and therefore, those strategies are almost nonexistent in the students' performance.

It is difficult for the researcher to determine whether this low rating level indicates lack of awareness of the existence of the learning strategies, whether students have tried them and have found them not very effective or if students simply have never tried them in their

59

learning experience. When analyzing low and high rating of strategy use reported by the students, it is important to take into account that some of the strategies presented to them in the pre-test may be more commonly used in ESL context than EFL ones, For instance, "I seek for opportunities to talk to native speakers" was reported with a low rating because students do not have access to native speakers in their EFL context. It could be possible that learners were aware of its importance and usefulness for their learning, but they simply reported as not using it because the context conditions do not allow them to apply it. On the other hand, students reported "I use a dictionary" with a high rate because that is part of the teaching paradigm that most language learners get involved in.

3. 3 Description of the strategy training program

3.3.1 Objectives

The main purpose of designing strategy training program in the classroom was to help students use some learning strategies which not only could facilitate them to learn a language more effectively, but also to deal with other situations in every day life. Besides this, the program was intended to determine to what extend strategies training increases the student's level of language proficiency with a particular reference to listening and speaking abilities.

3.3.2 Methodology

After reading some author's classification of strategies, we found Rebecca Oxford's classification the most comprehensible and detailed. Therefore, the methodology adopted for this research followed some of the steps of the model for strategy training that Rebecca Oxford describes in her book 'Language Learning Strategies'' (1990). However, it must be said that such steps were modified according to the characteristics of the context. We explained in section 2 that, according to our opinion, this specialist offers clear criteria to measure students' strategy use and provides practical information on how strategies can be

taught. Her questionnaire has helped us obtain valuable information for the purpose of this research.

After the assessment of the students on the use of learning strategies through the pre-test, the design of the intervention study followed these five steps:

- 1. Selection of the strategies to be applied according to the students' needs and characteristics.
- 2. Integration of strategies training in tasks, objectives and materials used in the course of Integrated English I.
- 3. Preparation of materials and activities taking into account the students' motivation, interests and ages.
- 4. Implementation of the training program.
- 5. Evaluation the strategy training program.

After having a clear picture of the students' situation, the strategy training programme was designed. In it we incorporated strategies that can be mainly applied to listening and speaking because, according to the pre-test, these are the strategies students found most difficult to develop. For example, most of them believed that a listening activity is always going to be a difficult task.

Although the purpose of the strategy training program was to enhance students' management of listening and speaking, the plan was designed to use a variety of strategies, which supports the use of these two abilities. For example, summarizing, placing new words into a context, writing a language learning diary and some affective strategies, are strategies which do not help directly to develop listening and speaking, but are useful to acquire vocabulary and to reinforce the new language learnt. According to research findings in the field of learning strategies, they work better in combination that is why the training program included some memory, cognitive, compensation, metacognitive, affective and social strategies. The strategies were selected according to the objectives of each unit of the language program for the first level. The strategies chosen are summarized in the following table:

Table 6

Summary of the strategies applied in the strategy training

Group	Strategy Set	Strategy
Memory	Creating mental linkages	Placing new words into a context
Cognitive	Creating structure for input and output	Summarizing
Metacognitive	Centering your learning	Paying attention: selective and directive attention
	Arranging and planning your learning	 Identifying the purpose of a language task Seeking practice opportunities
Affective	Lowering your anxiety	Using progressive relaxation, deep breathing or meditation
	Taking your emotional temperature	Writing a language learning diary
Social	Cooperating with others	Cooperating with peers
Compensation	Overcoming limitations in speaking Evaluating your learning	Getting help Self-evaluation

To begin the learning strategy training program, students were asked to bring a special notebook which would be used as *a diary*. In their diaries learners were instructed to record the application of some strategies and their feelings about the use of those after each lesson. The vocabulary strategy *'placing new words into a context'* was included as a permanent strategy because vocabulary is essential to speak and understand what is being said. With this strategy students had to use the new vocabulary learnt from any tasks in a meaningful context. *Summarizing* was another strategy students used in their diaries. They had to make a summary of the main aspects of each session. In their diaries learners also wrote about their difficulties and achievements, feelings and suggestions for the strategy use in class.

The diaries were received and checked by the teacher once a week. The teacher got relevant information from students' opinions and wrote some comments about the students' tasks. Although students were not told exactly the names of the strategies they were using, they reflected their thoughts and opinions about the activities they did in class, which involved the use of specific learning strategies.

In the case of listening, for example, the more practiced strategies were: *predicting, identifying the purpose of a language task and paying attention* which includes *selective and directed attention*. For each listening task students were asked to *predict* what they expected to listen according to the topic. Then they *identified the purpose of the listening task*, if it was for general or specific information, so the teacher encouraged students to concentrate on listening and to focus their attention on what they were asked to do.

For practicing listening and speaking the strategies used were *seeking practice opportunities, watching TV programs and films* outside the classroom, videos in the class and laboratory practice. Among the activities learner did there were interviews in and outside the classroom (the questions for the interviews were prepared by themselves and checked by the teacher afterwards), watching TV programs, listening tasks from the text-

book tape at home, watching some videos in class and discussing about them, etc. After performing these tasks, students had to give oral and written reports. For each class session there were pairs and group activities in which learners had to interact, cooperate and ask for help from their peers. Before each listening and speaking activity the teacher asked the students to make relaxation exercises in the form of warm-ups.

There was a variety of activities inside and outside the classroom to give students opportunities to practice the strategies implemented in this strategy program. (See appendix?). A post-test was administered at the end of the training program to evaluate how effective and useful the use of strategies had been. (See appendix 1)

3. 4 Analysis of the post-test results

Statistical analysis of the post-test indicated that there were significant differences in the use of some of the strategies incorporated in the strategy training (see table 7 below). From the variety of learning strategies included in the program the ones which reached the highest percentage in the category of 'always' were:

- listen to music in English (50%)
- identifying the purpose of a listening task (43%,)
- concentrating on the listening task (71%)
- cooperating with peers (61%)
- using relaxation, deep breathing or meditation (54%)
- predicting (60%)
- writing a language leaning diary (70%)
- asking for help (50%)

This means that the use of these strategies had increased considerably during the strategy training program which can also be interpreted as an increase in the level of students' awareness of these strategies.

On the other hand, the category of 'sometimes' reflects that the strategies more used were:

- placing new words into a context (36%)
- reviewing lessons often (57%)
- making summaries (46%)
- listening to music (43%)
- watching TV programs and film in English (54%)
- watching videos in class (64%)
- look for opportunities to talk to people in English (61%)
- identifying the purpose of a listening task (54%)
- ask for help (43%)
- writing a language learning diary (30%)
- evaluate my own progress on learning (39%).

It can be noticed that about 39% of the strategies applied were always used by the 50% of the learners who followed the strategy training. The remaining percentage of strategies were mostly used "sometimes", and just a few students "never" used them.

These results can be interpreted as the effect of students' awareness of using strategies to become good learners. On the other hand, the students who "sometimes" used the strategies seemed to be the ones who did not attend classes every day or did not do the assignments at home as they were required.

The findings about learning strategy use show that the strategies which were new for students, like 'writing a diary', 'writing summaries' and 'placing new words into a context' had significant use during the strategy training and students became familiar with them. It must be mentioned that at the beginning some students were reluctant to write a diary and make summaries; according to their opinions, "using these strategies had no sense", "diaries were just to write about personal facts", but in the end 95% of them handed out the diary with the tasks they had to do: summaries of the lessons, placing new words into a context, writing their comments or suggestions about the use of strategies, and things they found easy or difficult.

This increased could be interpreted as an achievement of the objectives of the strategy training which is to develop students' awareness of the use of learning strategies. However, the submission of the diaries experienced a decrease specifically at the end of the strategy training, because just 70% of students handed out the diaries with the completed tasks, while the remaining 20% did it but with some uncompleted tasks and 10% did not handed them out at all. So, it was decided to give them a reward (some marks at the end of semester for those who submitted and had the complete diaries) in order to maintain the students' interest in writing the diaries. Although it was not 100% successful, it did function to increase the students' enthusiasm.

This shows that teachers can enhance students' awareness and use of learning strategies through inclusion of these in the lesson plans. It could be argued that low level use of learning strategies on the part of students may be related to a lack of inclusion of what Richards and Lockhart (1996) refers to as "strategies activities" in the structure of a language lesson. The fact that the students increased the frequency and types of learning strategies used, supports the claim that some researchers make about the possibility of teaching learning strategies or, from the learning perspective, that learners can learn to use them.

My view based on my experience as a teacher is that it is possible to teach students to learn to use the strategies on their own. It is, of course, a long process which requires teachers' awareness of his/her role and commitment to the students. Although it does not mean that all the learners could become autonomous learners, but at least, the most motivated ones may benefit from it.

However, it must be said that although some strategies were under the teacher's influence, they did not have the same success as the strategies mentioned above. Such strategies are *placing new words into a context, making summaries* and *watching TV programs and film*'. The first two strategies were revised by the teacher every week when she checked the students' diaries, and the third one was sometimes assigned as homework. It means that just a low percentage (30%) used these strategies consciously without the teacher's control whilst about 50% used them 'sometimes', just when teacher reminded them of writing their diaries and the importance of doing it.

This is significant in terms of learner autonomy as it shows that students may need some kind of controlled practice (scaffolding activities) and teacher's guidance in order to develop autonomy and progressively internalize the use of strategies.

It was also found that strategies students used less were the ones which were marked under the "sometimes" heading, such as *watching videos*, or *seeking for practice opportunities*. The use of these strategies was controlled by the teacher, but they had to write a report after these tasks. There were other strategies that, although not practiced during the strategy program, were recommended to be practiced by students themselves. These strategies were *listening to news* or other programs in English on the radio and *seeking opportunities to talk to native speakers*. With regard to the strategies suggested in the pre-test and which were not included in the strategy training, it was found that some of them continued to be rated under the category of 'always' by the same number of students (36%), but the percentage increased in the category of "sometimes". For example, *using a dictionary* changed from 18% to 57%. This can be explained by the fact that they had to use a dictionary at home to get the new words and place them into a context. Similar results were found with *saying or writing new English words several times*. Even though there was no control or follow up in the use of these strategies, learners were interested in using them to learn vocabulary since the rate in the use of these strategies increased in the post- test, too (see table 7 below).

	Always	Sometimes	Never
	%	%	%
Writing a language learning diary.	70	25	5
I use a dictionary	36	57	7
I read books or magazines	18	57	25
Use new English words in a sentence	43	36	21
I review English lessons often	29	57	14
I say or write new English words several times	21	61	18
I make summaries of information of new language material	29	46	25
I listen to music in English	50	43	7
I listen to news or another program from the radio in	18	36	57
English			
I watch TV programs and films in English	32	54	14
I watch videos in class	36	64	0
I look for opportunities to talk to people in English	25	61	14
I seek opportunities to talk with native speakers	7	43	50
I clearly identify the purpose of a listening task: general or	43	54	3
specific and direct my attention on this			
I concentrate on the listening tasks and avoid any	71	29	0
distractions			
I evaluate my own progress in the new language	32	39	29
I predict what I will listen to	60	30	10
I cooperate with my partner to help each other	61	39	0
I breath deeply and try to relax whenever I feel afraid of	54	29	17
using English			
When I cannot think of a word during a conversation:			
e. I avoid talking	11	11	54
f. I use gestures	7	18	75
g. I look for a synonym	18	14	68
h. I ask for help	50	43	7

Table 7 Strategies used by the students after the strategy training.

In relation to the students' perception about the effectiveness of learning strategies, they said that their level of English had improved in some way. Students' opinions, statistical results about the evaluation of the training program, and students' grades reflect that these students have had some progress in learning the language compared to the level they had at the beginning of the course (see appendix). Through the diaries they said that all the activities carried out in and outside the classroom had been useful to increase their level of listening comprehension and fluency in speaking. In our view, they are now able to understand more than 50% of the listening tasks from the tape than before. Even though this skill still continues to be the most difficult for them, strategies *like identifying the listening purpose* and *concentrating on the listening task* have helped them improve their comprehension, vocabulary and pronunciation.

The grades they obtained in the first mid –term exam confirm the improvement of listening comprehension. (See appendix.). For the listening test, they were given the test suggested in the textbook of the regular course, this was done to follow the objectives of the course and to evaluate them according to the level they had reached. (See appendix ..) The results were satisfactory because 70% of the students scored higher than 70% in comprehension, while the rest obtained scores between 50% and 70%.

Students also realized that watching videos in class and watching films or another TV program at home (as homework) was not so 'difficult' as they thought. They said that the pictures (images) helped them to understand the contents and that they were getting used to concentrating on listening and writing the new words or expressions they heard.

As far as speaking strategies are concerned, learners said that the different tasks carried out to develop speaking had been useful. Some of their statements to support their opinions were: 'the different activities have helped me to learn expressions and vocabulary for specific situations; 'I like to learn language to use in 'real situation'; "the interviews outside the classroom and oral presentation have helped me overcome my shyness'; "Ì feel more motivated to learn"; "I always discover new ways to learn English", etc. (See appendix some copies from the students' diaries).

These results reveal that the most accepted strategies were seeking for practice opportunities to talk to people in English, listening exercises from the tape, listening to songs, peer and group work, watching videos in class, laboratory work and the less appreciated tasks were interviewing people outside the classroom, watching or listening to a program in English at home.

Students said that they had difficulties to do the latter tasks because they did not have cable TV at home, they could not get access to radio programs, the self-access of English Department does not function all the time, etc. However, they were willingly to do the listening tasks at home using the students' cassette which contains recordings of the different lessons and was recorded for them by the teacher. The interview outside the classroom was also difficult for them because they were afraid of making mistakes and they got embarrassed of talking to unknown people or students from other courses. This is reasonable because they have just began to study at the university and they come from schools where they were not used to doing these tasks, so they needed to develop some confidence and to learn to take risks.

Diaries revealed other interesting findings. For example, they said they enjoyed 'competence games', 'role plays' and 'memory games' very much. Almost all of them said that these activities helped them to be active and to learn vocabulary.

From our point of view, based on every day's observation and the results of the first-mid term exam, we could say that these learners made a significant progress in learning English. Apart from the statistics, an evidence of their progress, after the training program they were able to understand much more the teachers's instructions and more than 50% of an exercise

from the tape. Similar progress has taken place in speaking, after the program, they could communicate in a better way or at least they tried to say what they wanted in English, even though they were aware of their mistakes.

It can be said that the most important benefit of the strategy training has been the students' awareness of the existence of a variety of strategies for listening and speaking they can use to be successful language learners. It seems that some of them are beginning the "in-taking" process to use the strategies on their own without the teacher's control. These observations are based on students' reflections about the use of the different strategies during the strategy training, but will still continue being used during the semester.
5. CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions are based on the analysis of the information gathered by the different data collection techniques used in this research study.

- 1. The results reflect that even though the time for the implementation of the strategy training was relatively short, it had significant impact some of the strategies incorporated in the program. This impact is reflected in both the increase of the number of learning strategies used by students and the increase of use frequency.
- 2. The main achievement of the strategy training implemented with students is the development of the level of awareness of the existence of a variety of language learning strategies mainly for listening and speaking
- 3. The changes in the frequency of use of strategy categories, indicate that the strategy training is an effective approach to get students to develop awareness of learning strategies as well as to promote a more positive attitude towards language learning. The strategy training also enables students to take more responsibilities for their learning in the short, medium and long-term perspectives.
- 4. The increase in number of strategies and percentages in strategy use reflected in the results of the post-test show that students were able to incorporate some strategies into their repertoire as a result of their active role in trying to become more independent learners.
- 5. There are implications that can be derived from these results concerning teachers that indicate that strategy training is a powerful tool for teaching students how to le learn or incorporate certain learning strategies into their repertoire.

- 6. Students' attitudes were positive and willingness to try things. There was a general acceptance of the different task and activities in the classroom.
- 7. The results indicated that the use of learning strategies by students can increase the students' level of language proficiency.

RECOMMENDATION

By observing the good result strategy use had with the students, the idea comes why not keep on using them in every language class. we would recommend teachers to use well-organize strategies included in the course syllabus to improve students' proficiency, and teachers to try to have access to literature about strategy use and implementation in order to try them in their classes.

Also, that language institutions have a flexible syllabus to give teachers kind freedom to include strategy training in the program.

Moreover, the creation and reinforcement of teacher teamwork to plan and implement the use of strategies in the classroom to provide students with learning to learn tools to have an idea on how to learn a language.

In addition, we, as teachers would like to continue the use of strategies as part of everyday work.

Furthermore, assigning students outside work that reinforces and supports students' independence and some kind of research doing tasks.

Nowadays, the latest edition of language textbooks begin the incorporation an application of strategies, we would like to recommend the use and implementation of textbooks which include strategy use.

A follow up program to reinforce students' strategy use would be necessary in order to get students competence and proficiency which is our ultimate goal as language teachers.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ANDERSON, N. J. & L. VANDERGRIFT (1996). "Increasing Metacognitive Awareness in the L2 classroom by using think-aloud protocols and other verbal report formats", in R.L. Oxford (ed.), *Language learning Strategies Around the World: Cross Cultural Perspectives*, 3-18.
- BAILY, C.A. (1996). "Diary studies of classroom language learning: the doubting game".
 In Sadtono E (ed) Language Acquisition and the second/foreign language classroom.
 SEAMEO Regional Language Center, Singapore, pp 60-102.
- BAILY, C.A. (1996). "Unobtrusive computerized observations of compesation strategies for writing to determine the effectiveness of strategy instructions". In R.L. Oxford (ed.) Language learning Strategies Around the World: Cross Cultural Perspectives, 141-150.
- CARREL. P.L. (1989) "Metacognitive awareness and second language reading". *The Modern Language Journal*, 73, 2, 121-34.
- CHAMOT, A.U. (1987). "The Learning Strategies of SLE Students". In A. L. Wenden & J. Rubin (eds), Learner Strategies In Language Learning, 71-84.

CHAMOT, A.U.ET ALT (1999). The Learning Strategies Handbook. Longman.

COHEN A. D. & K. SCOTT (1996). A synthesis of approaches to assessing language learning strategies. In R.L. Oxford (ed.) *Language learning Strategies Around the World: Cross Cultural Perspectives*, 89-108.

- COHEN, A. D. (1998), *Strategies in Learning and Using a Second Language*. London and New York: Longman.
- COHEN, A.D. (1987) "Students processing of feedback on their compositions". In A. Wenden and J. Rubin (eds.) *Learner Strategies in Language Learning*, 57-69.
- ELLIS, R. (1994), *The Study of Second Language Acquisition* Oxford: Oxford: University Press".
- FAERCH, G. & KASPER, G (1986). "Strategic Competence in foreign language teaching" in G. Kasper (ed) *Learning, Teaching and Communication in Foreign Language Classrooms.* Aarus University: Aarus University Press, 179-94.
- GRAHAM, S & F. REES (1995) "Gender differences in Language Learning: the question of control" in language Learning Journal, 11:18-19
- HARRIS, V. () Teaching Learners how to Learn. CILT
- JOHNSTONE, R. (994). *Teaching Modern Languages at Primary School: Approaches and Implications*. The Scottish Council for Research on Education (SCRE).
- MACARO, E. (2001). *Learning Stragies in Foreign and Second Language Classrooms*. London and New York: Continuum.
- MCDONOUGH, S.H. (1995). Strategy and Skills in Learning a Foreign Language. London: Arnold
- NISBETT, R. & WILSON, T.I. (1977). Telling more than we can know: verbal report on mental processes. *Psychological Review*, 84, 231-58.

- NUNAN, D. (1992). *Research Methods in Language Learning*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- NUNAN, D (1996). The effect of Strategy Training in Students motivation, strategy knowledge, perceived utility and deployment. The English Center, university of Hong Kong, Hong Kong.
- O'MALLEY, J. M. & CHAMOT A.U et al. (1985). "Learning strategies applications with students of English as a second language". *TESOL Quaterly*, 19, 557-84.
- O'MALLEY, J. M. & CHAMOT A.U. (1990). Learning Strategies in Second language acquisition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- O'MALLEY, J. M. (1987). The effect of training in the use of learning strategies on acquiring English as a Second Language. I A. Wenden & J. Rubin (eds), *Learner* strategies in language learning, New York: Prentice-Hall, 133-44.
- OXFORD, R. (1990). Language Learning Strategies: What Every Teacher Should Know. Boston: Henile & Heinle.
- OXFORD, R.L. & ANDERSON, N. (1995). "A crosscurricular view of learning styles". State of the art article. Language teaching, 28, 201-2005.
- OXFORD, R.L. & J.M. GREEN (1996) "Language Learning Histories: Learners and Teachers Helping Each Other Understand Learning Styles and Strategies". Tesol Journal, 20-23, Autumn 1996.
- OXFORD, R.L. (ed.) (1996). Language learning Strategies Around the World: Cross Cultural Perspectives. University of Hawai AT Manoa: Second Language teaching and curriculum centred technical report 13.

- POULISSE, N., BONGAERST, T. & KELLERMAN, E. (1987). The use of retrospective verbal report in the analysis of compensatory strategies. In G. Faerch & G. Kasper (eds.) *Instrospection in Second Language Research*, 213-29.
- ROSS, S. & M. ROST (1991). "Learners use of strategies in interaction": Typology and teachability. *Language Learning*, 41(2), 235-237.
- RUBIN, J. (1975). "What the good language learner can tell us". *TESOL Quaterly*, 9,_41-51).
- RUBIN, J. ET ALT. (1988). *Imrpving Foreign Language Listening Comprehension*. Report to U.S. Departemen of Education. International Research and Studies Program.
- SINCLAIR, B. & ELLIS G. (1992). "Survey: Learner training in EFL course books". *ELT Journal*, 46(2), 211-225.
- STERN, H.H. (1975). "What can we learn from the good language learner?". *Canadian Modern Language Review*, 31, 304-318)
- TARONE, E (1977). "Conscious communication strategies in interlanguage". In H.D. Brown, C. A. Yorio & Crymes (eds), On TESOL 77: *Teaching an Learning ESL*, 30, 417-31.
- THOMPSON, I. & J. RUBIN (1996). "Can strategy instruction improve listening comprehension?". *Foreign Language Annals*, 29(3), 331-342.
- WEINSTEIN, C. & R MAYER (1986). "The Teaching of learning strategies", in M. Wittock (ed) Handbook for Research on Teaching. New York: Macmillan.

- WENDEN, A (1987). "Incorporating Learner training in the classroom": In A. L. Wenden & J. Rubin (eds), *Learner Strategies in Language Learning*. Hemel Hempste: Prentice Hall, 159-68.
- WENDEN, A (1987). "Metacognition: An expanded view on the cognitive abilities". Language Learning 37/4:573-95.
- WENDEN, A.L. (1991). *Learner Strategy for Learner Autonomy*. London: prentice Hall International.

ANNEX 1

O' Malley and Chamot (1990:119-120) attempted a longitudinal study of learning strategies used by a group of students for different language tasks. They included both effective and ineffective language learners and students at different levels of language study. They used think-aloud sessions with tasks such as: filling in the blank with appropriate vocabulary items, listening to a dialogue, monologue or narrative; speaking in a descriptive or role playing activity, reading for comprehension, etc.

Metacognitive strategies

Planning	Previewing the organizing concept or principle of an anticipated
	learning task (advanced organization); proposing strategies for
	handling an upcoming task; generating a plan for the parts, sequence,
	main ideas or language functions to be used in handling a task.
Directed attention	Deciding in advance to attend in general to a learning task and to
	ignore irrelevant distractors; maintaining attention during tasks
	execution.
Selective attention	Deciding in advance to attend to specific aspects of language input
	or situational details to assist in performance of a task, attending to
	specific aspects of language input during task execution.
Self-management	Understanding the conditions that help one successfully accomplish
	language tasks and arranging for the presence of those conditions;
	controlling one's language performance to maximise use of what is
	already known.
Advance preparation	Planning for and rehearsing linguistic components necessary to carry
	out an upcoming language task.
Self-monitoring	Checking, verifying, or correcting one's comprehension performance
	in the course of language task.
Delayed production	Consciously deciding to postpone speaking to learn initially through
	listening comprehension.

Self-evaluation	Checking the outcomes of one's own language learning against an
	internal measure of completeness and accuracy; checking one's
	language repertoire, strategy use, or ability to perform the task at
	hand .

Cognitive strategies

Cognitive	
Repetition	Imitating a language model. Including overt practice and silent rehearsal.
Resourcing	Using available reference sources of information about the target language,
	including dictionaries, textbooks or prior work.
Grouping	Ordering, classifying or labelling material used in language task based on
	common attributes; recalling information based on grouping previously done.
Translation	Using the first language as a base for understanding and/or producing the
	second language.
Repetition	Imitating a language model. Including overt practice and silent rehearsal.
Resourcing	Using available reference sources of information about the target language,
	including dictionaries, textbooks or prior work.
Grouping	Ordering, classifying or labelling material used in language task based on
	common attributes; recalling information based on grouping previously done.
Translation	Using the first language as a base for understanding and/or producing the
	second language.
Note-taking	Writing down the key words and concepts in abbreviated verbal, graphic, or
	numerical form to assist performance of language task.
Deduction/	Consciously applying learned or self-developed rules to produce or understand
Induction	the target language.
Substitution	Selecting alternative approaches, revised plans, or different words or phrases
	to accomplish a language task.

Elaboration	Relating new information to prior knowledge; relating different parts of new
Liaboration	
	information to each other; making meaningful personal associations to
	information presented, in the following ways:
	a. Personal elaborations: making judgements about or reacting personally to
	the material presented.
	b. World elaboration: Using knowledge gained from experience in the world.
	c. Academic elaboration: Using knowledge gained in academic situations.
	d. Between parts elaboration: Using a combination of questions and world
	knowledge to brainstorm logical solutions to a task.
	e. Question elaboration: using a combination of questions and world
	knowledge to brainstorm logical solutions to a task.
	f. Self-evaluative elaboration: Judging self in relation to materials.
	g. Creative elaboration: making up a story line, or adopting a clever
	perspective.
	h. Imagery: Using mental or actual pictures or visuals to represent
	information; coded as a separate category, but viewed as a form of
	elaboration. E.g., students can think about environmental problems in their
	own community
Summarizing	Making a mental, oral, or written summary of language information presented
	in a text.
Transfer	Using previously acquired linguistic and/or conceptual knowledge to facilitate
	a new language learning task.
Inferencing	Using available information to guess meanings or usage of unfamiliar
	language items associated with a language task, to predict outcomes, or to fill
	in missing information.
	-

Social and affective strategies

Questioning for	Asking for explanations, verification, rephrasing, or examples about
clarification	the material; asking for clarification or verification about the task;
	posing questions to the self.
Cooperation	Working together with peers to solve a problem, pool information,
	check a learning task, model a language activity, or get feedback on
	oral or written performance.
Self-task	Reducing anxiety by using mental techniques that make one feel
	competent to do a learning task.
Self-reinforcement	providing personal motivation by arranging rewards for oneself
	when a language learning activity has been successfully completed.

ANNEX 2



. .

Figure 1.4 Diagram of the Strategy System Showing All the Strategies (Source: Original.)







ANNEX 3

INTERVENTION STUDY A - UCA

PRE AND POST TEST SURVEY

3.1 Pre test survey

1. Por qué está aprendiendo ingles?

Me gusta _____ Por el trabajo _____ Está de moda _____ voy a viajar

2. cual de las habilidades considera más iportante?

Habla_____ Escucha_____ escritura _____ Lectura _____

3. cual de las habilidades considera más dificil?

Habla_____ Escucha_____ escritura _____ Lectura _____

4. en su experiencia como estudiante de inglés cuál habilidad ha sido más desarrollada?

Habla_____ Escucha_____ escritura _____ Lectura _____

5. Considera que la actitud del profesor influye en su buen aprendizaje del idioma inglés?

Si_____ No____ por qué?

6. Cree que la metodología empleada por el profesor aumenta su deseo de aprender el idioma inglés?

Si_____ No_____ por qué?

Marque con una x en la casilla que corresponde a la frecuencia con que usted esta usando las siguientes estrategias dentro y fuera del aula de clase.

	SIEMPRE	A VECES	NUNCA
1. Uso diccionario			
2. Leo libros o revistas en Inglés			
3. Escribo las nuevas palabras en oraciones			
4. Repaso las lecciones de Ingles con frecuencia			
5. Repito o escribo las palabras nuevas varias veces			
6. Hago resúmenes de las nuevas lecciones			
7. Escucho música en Ingles			
8. Veo programas, películas en Ingles			
9. Veo videos orientados en clase			
10. Busco oportunidades para conversar con otras			
personas que hablan ingles			
11. Busco oportunidades para hablar con hablantes			
nativos de Ingles			
12. Centro mi atención en los ejercicios de listening y			
evito cualquier distracción			
13. Identifico claramente el proposito de un ejercicio			
de listening, si es general o especifico y dirijo mi			
atención sobre esto			
14. Trabajo con mi compañero inmediato o en grupo			
y nos ayudamos el uno al otro			
15. Trato de relajarme si siento temor o nervios			
cuando tengo que decir algo en ingles, contestar o			
preguntar			
16. Predigo lo que va a pasar en una actividad			
17. Cuando no se como se dice una palabra que			
necesito en una conversación:			
a. me quedo callado			
b. uso gestos o mimicas			

c. busco un sinònimo		
d. le pregunto a otro como se dice		
18. Escucho noticias u otros programas del radio en		
ingles		
19. Planeo lo que voy a decir en inglés antyes de		
hablar		
20.Se planea objetivos en el aprendizaje del idioma		
inglés		
21. Deduzco de lo que se trata una actividad por las		
fotos o alguna idea que en la actividad se presenta		
22.escribo un diario de clase		

Post test survey

El siguiente test es para determinar el progreso del aprendisaje de Ingles en el transcurso de estas semanas de clase.
Name:______Age_____

			<i>8</i>	
1 ; Cree usted	que su nivel de Ingl	es ha progresado en	el transcurso de estas semana	as de
clase?	4	•• •• •• •• •• ••		
Mucho	No mucho	Un poco	No	
		-		
	ado las actividades re			
Mucho	_ No mucho	Un poco	No	
•	as diferentes actividad prender mas vocabul		y fuera del aula de clase le l	nan
			No	
		I		
no sepa toda	as las palabras que qu	iere decir?	ahora que al inicio del curso,	aunque
Mucho	No mucho	Un poco	No	
0 -	es le han ayudado a es			-
5. ¿Cuando tra	abaia en pareia, su co	mpañero (a) compre	nde todo lo que usted le dice	?
			No	
		-		
			e escucha del cassette que al No	inicio?
7. ¿Que le ha a	ayudado o impedido e	el avance de su com	prensión?	
				-
del cassette	con acento nativo?		le de una conversación, entre	evista, etc.
100%	75%	50	25%	
9. ¿Se siente n inicio del cu		ra las exposiciones o	orales individuales o en grupo	que al
		Un poco	No	
		1		
	dad cree usted que se dos de clase?	ha desarrollado mas	s, se ha practicado mas en el t	ranscurso
		Reading	Writing	
	B	0		

SIEMPRE	A VECES	NUNCA
	SIEMPRE	SIEMPRE A VECES I I

Marque con una x en la casilla que corresponde a la frecuencia con que usted esta usando las siguientes estrategias dentro y fuera del aula de clase.

f. uso gestos o mimicas		
g. busco un sinònimo		
h. le pregunto a otro como se dice		
18. Escucho noticias u otros programas del radio en		
ingles		
19. Planeo lo que voy a decir en inglés antyes de		
hablar		
20.Se planea objetivos en el aprendizaje del idioma		
inglés		
21. Deduzco de lo que se trata una actividad por las		
fotos o alguna idea que en la actividad se presenta		
22.escribo un diario de clase		

Annex 4. Scaffoldings

4.1 Scaffolding for getting help

Asking for help phrases

- ◆ I don't understand, Could you explain that again?
- Could you repeat that please?
- Could you speak more slowly?
- What's that in English?
- How do you say ... in English?
- Can I borrow your dictionary (eraser)?
- ◆ How do you spell...?
- Can you write that please?
- Excuse me, how do you say this word?
- May I go out for a moment?
- Sorry I am late

Annex 5. Tables and graphics

5.1Graphics of experimental group

5.1.1 Experimental group Graphic 1



5.1.2 Experimental group Graphic 2



5.1.3 Experimental group Graphic 3



Strategy	Alway	Sometime	Never
	s%	s%	%
Using a dictionary	22	56	22
Reading books or magazines in English	22	66	12
Writing down unknown words in sentences	33	55	12
Reviewing English lessons frequently	44	56	0
Repeating or writing down new words several times	22	44	34
Summarizing lessons	12	44	44
Listening to music in English	55	33	12
Watching movies and TV programs in English	66	22	12
Watching videos oriented in class	0	78	12
Seeking practice opportunities with English speaking	44	23	33
people			
Seeking practice opportunities with native English	22	33	45
speaking people			
Centering attention in listening exercises, and avoiding	55	12	33
any distraction			
Identifying the purpose of a listening exercise, if it's	55	33	12
general or specific and paying attention to it.			
Working with y classmates or in groups and helping	66	34	0
each other			
Trying to relax if feeling nervous when saying something	55	44	0
in English			
Predicting before listening activities	12	44	44
When you don't know how to say a word in a	12	12	76
conversation, you:			
a) don't say anything			
b) Use gestures	12	12	76
c) Use synonyms	0	12	88
d) Ask somebody how to say it	33	22	45
Listening to the news or other radio programs in English	12	33	55

5.2.1 Table - Strategies used by control group pre-test survey results

Planning before an English speaking activity	56	44	0
Setting objectives in English learning	44	33	23
Inferring what an activity is about by looking at the	12	76	12
pictures or at an idea presented			
Writing a class diary	0	0	100

5.2.2. Table Comparison in strategy use pre and post survey (Control group)

	Always		Sometimes		Never	
Strategy	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
1. Using a dictionary	22	22	56	66	22	12
2. Reading books or magazines in English	0	0	0	0	100	100
3. Writing down unknown words in sentences	33	33	55	44	12	23
4. Reviewing English lessons frequently	44	44	56	44	0	12
5. Repeating or writing down new words several times	22	22	44	66	34	12
6. Summarizing lessons	12	12	44	55	44	34
7. Listening to music in English	55	56	33	44	12	0
8. Watching movies and TV programs in English	66	56	22	44	12	0
9. Watching videos oriented in class	0	22	78	56	12	22
10. Seeking practice opportunities with English speaking	44	33	23	44	33	23
people			20			20
11. Seeking practice opportunities with native English	22	22	33	44	45	34
speaking people						0.
12. Centering attention in listening exercises, and	55	33	12	44	33	23
avoiding any distraction	00					
13. Identifying the purpose of a listening exercise, if it's	55	56	33	44	12	0
general or specific and paying attention to it.						C C
14. Working with classmates or in groups and helping	66	88	34	12	0	0
each other	00	00	01		Ũ	Ŭ
15. Trying to relax if feeling nervous when saying	55	56	44	44	0	0
something in English						
16. Predicting before listening activities	12	12	44	44	44	44
17. When you don't know how to say a word in a	12	12	12	12	76	88

127

conversation you:						
a) don't say anything						
b) Use gestures	12	12	12	22	76	77
c) Use synonyms	0	12	12	22	88	77
d) Ask somebody how to say it	33	33	22	12	45	56
18. Listening to the news or other radio programs in English	12	33	33	44	55	23
19. Planning before an English speaking activity	56	66	44	34	0	0
20. Setting objectives in learning English	44	55	33	12	23	33
21. Inferring what an activity is about by looking at the pictures or at an idea presented	12	22	76	22	12	56
22. Writing a class diary	0	0	0	0	100	100

Strategy	Always Sometimes			Never		
	Exp.	Cont.	Exp.	Cont.	Exp.	Cont.
	G	G.	G	G.	G	G.
1. Using a dictionary	62.5	22	25	66	12.5	12
2. Reading books or magazines in English	50	0	50	0	25	100
3. Writing down unknown words in sentences	37.5	33	62.5	44	0	23
4. Reviewing English lessons frequently	62.5	44	37.5	44	0	12
5. Repeating or writing down new words						
several times	75	22	25	66	0	12
6. Summarizing lessons	87.5	12	12.5	55	0	34
7. Listening to music in English	50	56	50	44	0	0
8. Watching movies and TV programs in						
English	50	56	50	44	0	0
9. Watching videos oriented in class	0	22	25	56	62.5	22
10. Seeking practice opportunities with						
English speaking people	12.5	33	37.5	44	12.5	23
11. Seeking practice opportunities with native						
English speaking people	25	22	75	44	0	34
12. Centering attention in listening exercises,						
and avoiding any distraction	100	33	0	44	0	23
13. Identifying the purpose of a listening						
exercise, if it's general or specific and paying						
attention to it.	37.5	56	50	44	12.5	0
14. Working with y classmates or in groups						
and helping each other	50	88	50	12	0	0
15. Trying to relax if feeling nervous when						
saying something in English	62.5	56	37.5	44	0	0
16. Predicting before listening activities	12.5	12	87.5	44	0	44
17. When you don't know how to say a word						
in a conversation you:						
a) don't say anything	0	12	0	12	100	88
b) Use gestures	0	12	0	22	100	77
c) Use synonyms	12.5	12	0	22	87.5	77
d) Ask somebody how to say it	37.5	33	62.5	12	0	56
18. Listening to the news or other radio						
programs in English	0	33	62.5	44	37.5	23
19. Planning before an English speaking						
activity	50	66	37.5	34	12.5	0
20. Setting objectives in learning English	50	55	50	12	0	33
21. Inferring what an activity is about by						
looking at the pictures or at an idea						
presented	37.5	22	62.5	22	0	56
22. Writing a class diary	100	0	0	0	0	100

5.2.3 Comparison post tests survey of experimental and control groups

5.3 Graphics



5.3.1 Comparison Experimental and control group (post tests survey results)





Strategy

- 1. Using a dictionary
- 2. Reading books or magazines in English
- 3. Writing down unknown words in sentences
- 4. Reviewing English lessons frequently
- 5. Repeating or writing down new words several times
- 6. Summarizing lessons
- 7. Listening to music in English
- 8. Watching movies and TV programs in English
- 9. Watching videos oriented in class
- 10. Seeking practice opportunities with English speaking people
- 11. Seeking practice opportunities with native English speaking people
- 12. Centering attention in listening exercises, and avoiding any distraction
- 13. Identifying the purpose of a listening exercise, if it's general or specific and paying attention to it.
- 14. Working with y classmates or in groups and helping each other
- 15. Trying to relax if feeling nervous when saying something in English
- 16. Predicting before listening activities
- 17. When you don't know how to say a word in a conversation you:
- a) don't say anything
- b) Use gestures
- c) Use synonyms
- d) Ask somebody how to say it
- 18. Listening to the news or other radio programs in English
- 19. Planning before an English speaking activity
- 20. Setting objectives in learning English
- 21. Inferring what an activity is about by looking at the pictures or at an idea presented

Annex 6. Students' Diaries

ANNEX 6 Student's Diaries 14 Polle on e i CLAN SA dD SC COL Denney mar di 10 625 porsto 0.3 0 00 Δ 40 17 Dar 20 D 102 2 30 mo n S 4 100 me (11:) ps 1 DA logre Ģ 10.7 ev PN POY The de nor Un 00 danterit percess excition.

Evaluation

Hasta cahara siente que e aprendido	9
I There Presentes me, evente	
benvenda a otras perseñas, pregenter	
cubics personales aprice de sus partities	
COSICO PECSONICOS COLICE INT	
SUS JUSKIS.	
rampica mucha uncabularoo nuevo.	
aunque siento que pongo que	
estudiar may y Practicar Los numeros	
aspectation made y practical los nomenos estediar mas y Practical los nomenos sobre todo y el uso de have y has	
Los opercicios y aprender el numo, loculoulario y expressiones. Prenso que hemos Tenido buenes	
VIDELINILATION V EXPRESIONES.	
Pierso and hemos Tenide buenes	
$e \wedge h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h h $	
ajer croves, también mabler con Otras	
ager craves , Farmoren hables Todas	
to give no ne recent as any	a/
palabras parecidas que me majan record	254 4
megilas palabras an Ingles me parece	a)
the second of the second	
a wego me confundo que le tra Merean	9
(the set is a factory of the set	colla
2. Lambier a Veces ne remained	
escribic las diarios y tengo que	
43 01 1811 01 182	
myorar en 432.	

10 101 prot 317 JE CA 102 64 h.org 9 in ne mas 0) Yerio 1 rn. 1 a tarll rť, 41 houst ż Cour 1.0 Or C DIEM 25 2 0 do dill Pn 17 rne ... 50 ç a Kuc m QY. monuncación 881 11 pettin 103 24 1510 MEG
ANNEX 7

PRE-TEST.

PART I

Estimado alumno:

Le solicito su cooperación para contestar este cuestionario sobre algunos aspectos relacionados con el aprendizaje del idioma, especialmente en el uso de estrategias.

NAME

AGE

1.- ¿Por qué estás aprendiendo inglés?

Por el trabajo _____ voy a viajar ____-fue donde me ubicaron _____ quiero ser profesor de Ingles _____

 Marque con una X el nivel de importancia que tienen para usted las 4 habilidades en el aprendizaje de Inglés. Justifique su respuesta.

	Muy importante	No tan importante
Habla y escucha		
Escritura		
Lectura		
Todas	la ser al	

Por qué

3.- ¿Cual de las habilidades del idioma te parece mas difícil de aprender?

Lectura escritura habla escucha todas

Por qué _____

4.- ¿Que influencia tiene para usted la actitud del profesor para el buen aprendizaje del idioma Inglés?

	BASTANTE	POCA	NINGUNA
Motiva			
Da confianza		5	
Dinámico			1
Creativo			

-			1.00
۰.	1	х	~
н.	ŧ		~

PART 2.

5. Marque con una x en la casilla que corresponde a la frecuencia con que usted está usando las siguientes estrategias dentro y fuera del aula

	11 II I	SIEMPRE	A VECES	NUNCA
1	Escribir un diario de las clase	2007-200		
2	Uso diccionario			
3	Leo libros o revistas			
4	Escribo las nuevas palabras en oraciones			
5	Repaso las lecciones de Ingles con frecuencia			
6	Repito o escribo las palabras nuevas varias veces			
7	Hago resúmenes de las nuevas lecciones			0_000000000
8	Escucho música en Ingles			
9	Escucho noticias u otros programas del radio en ingles			
10	Veo programas, películas en Ingles			
11	Veo videos orientados en clase			
12	Busco oportunidades para conversar con otras personas que hablan ingles			
13	Busco oportunidades para hablar con personas nativos de Ingles			
14	evito cualquier distracción			
15				
16				
17				
18				
19	Trato de relajarme si siento temor o nervios cuando tengo que decir algo en ingles, contestar o preguntar			
20				

Gracias por su colaboración.

POST -TEST

ANNEX 8

Marque con una x en la casilla que corresponde a la frecuencia con que usted está usando las siguientes estrategias dentro y fuera del aula

	SIEMPRE	A VECES	NUNCA
1Escribir un diario de las clase			
2. Uso diccionario			
Leo libros o revistas			
4. Escribo las nuevas palabras en oraciones			A CONTRACTOR
5. Repaso las lecciones de Ingles con frecuencia			
6. Repito o escribo las palabras nuevas varias veces	and the state of the state of the		
7. Hago resúmencs de las nuevas lecciones			
8. Escucho música en Ingles			
9. Escucho noticias u otros programas del radio en ingles	=		
10. Veo programas, películas en Ingles		1	
11. Veo videos orientados en clase			
12. Busco oportunidades para conversar con otras personas que hablan ingles			
13. Busco oportunidades para hablar con personas nativos de Ingles			
14. Centro mi atención en los ejercicios de listening y evito cualquier distracción		3	
 15. Identifico claramente el propósito de un ejercicio de listening, si es general o especifico y dirijo mi atención sobre esto 			
16. Predigo lo que voy a escuchar			
17.Evalúo o reflexiono sobre mi progreso			
 Trabajo con mi compañero inmediato o en grupo y nos ayudamos el uno al otro 			
19. Trato de relajarme si siento temor o nervios cuando tengo que decir algo en ingles, contestar o preguntar		2	
 20. Cuando no se como se dice una palabra que necesito en una conversación: e. me quedo callado f. uso gestos o mímicas g. busco un sinónimo 			
h. le pregunto a otro como se dice			-

1. c1 a	¿Que utilidad han tenido para usted el uso de las estrategias antes mencionadas en prendizaje de Ingles durante el curso?
2.	¿Cree usted que su nivel de Ingles ha progresado en el transcurso de estas semanas de clase?
	bastante nada
3.	Ha disfrutado las actividades realizadas en clase? Bastante nada
Cu	ales?
4.	Cree que las diferentes actividades realizadas dentro y fuera del aula de clase le han ayudado a aprender mas vocabulario? bastanteun poconada
5.	Se le hace un poco mas făcil comunicarse en ingles ahora que al inicio del curso aunque no sepa todas las palabras de lo que quiere decir? bastante un poco nada
6.	Cuando trabaja en pareja, su compañero (a) comprende todo lo que usted le dice? bastante un poco nada
7.	¿Comprende ahora mas un ejercicio de comprensión de escucha del casete que al inicio?
8	¿Que le ha ayudado o impedido en el avance de su comprensión?
-	
9.	¿Que porcentaje considera usted que ahora comprende de una conversación, entrevista, etc., del casete con acento nativo?
	100% 75% 50% 25%
1	 ¿Se siente mas relajado ahora para las exposiciones orales individuales o en grupo que al inicio del semestre? Bastantepoconada
T	Por que ⁹
1	 11. ¿Cual habilidad cree usted que se ha desarrollado o practicado más en el transcurso de los periodos de clase?
	Listeningspeakingreadingwriting

UTT APRI 2004 April 23 the 20 Y Umos el uso del , Escuchamos el casser. y como usado y Does en la centa específicaba, una muchacha como era practiones negaritas Su apartamento. della afrimativas 61 Do ---- que era muy pequeño. villes en I, you we they. Las otras 3. grabaciones Does en the she , PT. declain que el apariamento 10 91 hodsar el No -erc muy granda que era preguntas. - muy lindo que era de omo responderías en dos prios. etc. tito usando el mismo. - con esta clase no tuve o give as algo fire no problemas werta sola a mi escuchar la conta 4 Traceas a algonas de mos a Dios estaba mux clara. aseros tambien 1 15 mo y cuando y el Does.

news word Not, at an _de nada strarghton aredo - *S*Pg gracias de todas formas THANK y00 anywa incalizas. upstates _ subbe las april 21 01 El dia de hoy istudianos 5Pmple present ž. tense. (Do, Does Do con solo I, you 22 Utel un does They con and shy and I+ Do is un auxiliar DORA. prayuntar 0 2106 Ter uno ademas Apomotova2 Var -1 pull mor Un l have 40 dua hoy comp de el follito de practice Grammar fours)

14th April 10 300 Unit 5 Where? Hoy comenzamos la unidad 5 miramos el uso del there is and there are Aprendí a describir la corsa, junto con las cosas que hay en ello. Diferenciamos las cosas, por ej: There is a sofa in the living room. Hicimos domo practica describir nuestra wasa. Practicamos el listening hocerce de mostro das descripciones una ecusa y un apartamento. y las cosas que habian en ellos ative Devitue I do not live (don't) I live 100 horst live uou live Helsing 11 doesn't live helshelit lives 100 100 use -> dor't i we wat Here Gue 112

14 STORE DETECTIVES

You and your partner are detectives in a busy department store in London. You have just seen two people shop-lifting on the closed circuit T.V. Describe them so that your partner can catch them. Then listen to your partner's description of two more shop-lifters.



A similar game could be played using the students" own family photos.

Ark the students to bring in one photo of each member of their families.

They should sat in groups of three or four and put all the photos face down on a pile in the middle of the group. They should then should the pile thoroughly and lay the photos out face up in a row.

Each student should thru describe their family, and the others should decide which photos belong to that family.

15

Wallflowers

Type of activity

pair work information gap Function practised describing people's clothes Exponent Who is the spiritum of the Who is the spiritum of the core

Which one 2 The one. The one with

Levical areas

clothes, adjectives describing physical appearance. Estential vocabulary

mmastuche, glasses, boord blund, dark, strangirt, curly, kom, short, hate: dress, provi klauge, ykiez shirt, treaserts, shore suit, bouts, jucket, T-shurt, pullower

How to use the game

Copy enough pictures for all the students in the class. Divide the class into pairs and give out copies of the pictures A and B to each pair.

They should not know at each other's partness. Tell the students that they are at a party with a friend They know the names of some of the people at the party, but not others

The object of the game is to find the names of all the people at the party. To do this, they must describe the people they don't know to their partner, and ask who they are.

16

Looking for a hotel

Type of activity whole class stimulation Function practised reserving hotel accommodation Exponent for the accommodation

Have you gat/Can I have a surgle/dashle coses with themes? both for one/two/theor nights? Have much is a stragle/double comes? testical according to the second seco

How to use the game

The game may be played with any number of students. Four students will be hotel receptionists and the rest will be funcists lonking for hotel rooms, although if you have a large class. 20 or over - it would be better to have two receptionists at each deak to deal with queues. Copy one houst list for each receptionist and one truinist card in each tourist.

Clear the desks and chairs from the middle of the room and situate four houel reception desks in different corners of the room. The receptionists should sh beland these.

Give each receptionist a different hotel room list and give out the tourist cards to the remaining students. The object of the game is to find the cheapest pussible hotel room for the right. To do this, students will have to visit each batel in turn to enquire about availability and prices of rooms. They should then return to the hotel of their choice to make a fain booking.

There is always the possibility that the room of their choice may have been taken while they were making on their minds. They will then have to make a second choice.

If you want to increase the element of competition in the game with a small class, cruis out some of the rooms on the hotel lists as if they were already taken.

17 Getting there on :

Getting there on time

Type of activity whole slave subolation Function practiced asking for travel information

Exponent (Chere a train/bas/place to/from ... in the environg)

afternoon/evening-Wilet teme/Whendoes it leave/arrive-

Lexical areas terrers, 24-boost clock, places

Essential vocabulary

increases, 2005. But station, there course herepeak factional much h. Weater, meeting sports course has step, event, visit, such arrive, leave see, task, an filmeth fly, scatt, series, only, much, read days of the week, tames (24-bour clock).

How to use the game

Clear desks and chairs from the centre of the class Divide the class into two groups. Divide one half into three groups and the other into groups of three and four. Set up three desks in different areas of the room to represent bus station, railway station and airport.

U.S.



Where do you work? 5**B**

Where people live and work; Simple Present tense; at, in and on; phone numbers; first, second, ...

1 Look at the pictures. Put the words in the right places.

My sister works in Edu "Where do you live, M:	s at 10 Downing Street. burgh. 'ry?' "In Aston Street." '39 Morrison Avenue."
We live in a small flat of	
Mrs L. Williams 17 Harcourt Road	÷
Coventry	

West Midlands CY2 4BJ



2 At, in or ou?

5

- L. I live
- New York * 3
- L live _____ 37 Valley Road. "Where du you work?" '_____ New Yo My office is ______ the fourteenth floor. 4. Jake rives .
- a big old house Washington.
- 5. "Where do you live?" 116 New Street,"

3 Solution Listening for information. Copy the table, Then listen to the conversations, and write the correct letters after the names, (There are only three phone numbers.)

NAME	LIVES	PHONE NUMBER
John		×
Peter Matchews	in the second	
Alice's mother		
Mr Billows	in a stars	
Mrs Webber	6	
Mrs Simon	2	And the strength

Â.	at 16 Norris Road, Brdford	V	314 6928
В	in a small flat in North London.		41632
С.	in Birmingham.	X	314.68 59
D	at 116 Market Street		41785
E	in New York.	7	41758
F.	on the fourth floor.		
	as CO Hereiler Brook Ch		

G at 60 Hamilton Road, Gloscester,

4 You all work in the same building; it has got eight floors. Your teacher will tell you your jobs and phone numbers and what floor you work on. Find out who works where; ask fur phone numbers. Example:

'What do you do?'	What's your phone
'Pm an engineer.'	miniber:
'And where do you work?'	63.7 4945
"Leark on the fourth floor"	'Tbanks.'
"I work on the fourth floor"	

Now look at the example and complete the seatences.

An engineer works (or Two engineers work) on the fourth floor, and histberttheir phone number is 633-1945.

work(s) on the ground floor, and

рһонс 2. 1	number is work(s) c work(s) c	on the first	t flour, and	1
4. 5.	on the , and	, an		AND DOL
6. 7.	e. Ennem			
1 live you live		e ive nu live		

Learn: work; live, at, big; small, flat, street; road: floor, ground flour; first, second; that, fourth; filth; sixth, seventh; eighth, ninth, phone number,

they live

2.5

ho/sho/it lives

.

	Getting to Know Someone
cfore listening	Talking points
м	1) Look at this photo of a boy and girl meeting for the first time on a beach in Portugal. What do you think they might talk to one another about? Talk to the rest of the class. Agree on at least six points and write them below.
	d)
	1
istening tasks	 Now listen to the tape. Do the box and girl talk about the points you listed above? Write ves (Y) or no (N) against each point.
 The letter on the right from the girl on the 	
nce to an English mend	acartmene 338 Mirabborer
thers. It contains ten	Fraia do Castelo
anks. Before you listen	algerie
tain, read the letter and oth a partner fill in as	Portugal.
hany of the blanks as you	17
in. Then listen to the	
ape again to check your	This is just a quick note to tell you a little about my
nswers and fill in the	I ve already by a har i i good and in really beautiful
ther blanks	a in all The
	a fundatic and I've met an
	intally, for instance i
	difference his life is from mine ! He first firstred ! Hinw
	and decided to go off round the first birished
	where the man is the second the s
	a condition of the state of the
	to place where the " is good just like my good I've unred him to " is good just like me! about ha!" I'm very interested in him to "
	about his". I'm very interested in fording out
	more about where her beer and about life in autoralia out Enough for now, more neur later to autoralia
	The second state in the second state of the se
	and I hope you and you I have bone study too hard
	See you soon.
	and I hope you and your family are well. See you soon, love
	See you soon.
	See you soon. love

Language points	Asking questions I	o get to know so	meone	
6011WA	5) What questions about people? Fill i			following intormation
		What's wour name?		
	b) nationality			
	c) occupation			
140 A	d) marital status			
	er home town			
	f) interests			
	Compare your answ	vers with a parto	e7.	
Extension activities	Ofa'work			
	Getting to know so	meone		
	Then go round the notes of their answ	class and ask the	and write them on it questions to at lease mnaire.	
GLIETIONE	ANSWERS			
	Name	Name	Name	Name
1		1	1	
2				
,		1		
		† — — –		
12 ·				
A				1.000
5 . 6	1	1	1	
5 6 7				
				1
7 8	W(+1):20 w/l+k			<u></u>
7 8 7) Imagine you are on builday and writing the	Wr+1120 wn+2			<u> </u>
 7 8 71 Imagine you are on builday and writing the letter on the right to a 	Wr+1:20 wn+k			
 7 8 71 Imagine you are on holiday and writing the letter on the right to a thend. Complete it with 				
7 8 71 Imagine you are on huliday and writing the fetter on the right to a mend. Complete it with promation about your		secting to tell	you about my	
7 8 71 Imagine you are on huliday and writing the fetter on the right to a mend. Complete it with promation about your	Dear		you about my	arter L coes
7 8 71 Imagine you are on huliday and writing the fetter on the right to a mend. Complete it with promation about your	Dear Im u Staging - been here	For	so far Its	
7 8 71 Imagine you are on huliday and writing the fetter on the right to a mend. Complete it with promation about your	Dear Im u Staying been here The oncett Every	for		
 7 8 71 Imagine you are on builday and writing the letter on the right to a 	Dear I m u Staying been here The unsatt Every Cuence	for	so far itb	and in the
7 8 71 Imagine you are on holiday and writing the letter on the right to a mend. Complete it with intermation about your	Dear I m u Staying been here The user Florg Cuening - I hau	For	so far Its	and in the

QUESTIONS	AL	OT OF	AL	TTLE	NC	NE
	F	%	F	%	F	%
Do you think your level of English has progressed during these weeks?	12	43%	1,6	57%		9
Have you enjoyed the activities in the classroom?	15	54%	13	46%		
Have the different activities in and outside the classroom helped you to learn more vocabulary?	16	57%	12	43%		
Is it easier for you to communicate now than at the beginning of the course, (although you do not know all the words you need_?	10	36	16	57%	2	7
Do you understand more a listening exercise from the tape now?	14	50%	12	43%	2	7%
Do you feel more relaxed now before the oral presentations?	12	43%	16	57%		
How much benefit have the strategies used in and outside the classroom had in your learning during these course	15	53%	10	36	3	11

RESULTS OF THE EVALUATION OF THE STRATEGY TRAINING

What percentage of a listening exercise from the tape do you understand now?

	F	%
100%	0	0
75%	10	36
50%	14	50
25%	4	14

What skills do you considerer has been more practiced in the classroom?

	F	%
Listening	9	32%
Speaking	13	46
Reading	2	7
Writing	4	14

2	3	2	1 as	10	BI	2 1	40	23	22	1 2	4	ō	1	đ	Ū	T	i	N.	=	ī	5 4	0 0		4	30 10		-		N	-	z,	
						-				4			1.1			~~~~	10.0		1.1			1 V	174	5	S		414	17	ſ	1.1	Carnel	
the second se	We Gener be th	Resido	Funce time	-4		a Kaonaria Las	1	er 5:00	Cubas Agers Edus	Cathing Wanton	Change land	Anda Mar 4	Course biologicants Kinden de	Charles In the Prante	Mr. True San	Carton Lana	March Slop	Prince marine miner	Locia variation march	D. I As books To	5	Carrier April	Palan ling Q	Cabo Atra		Brava Baltodanc Resaris	Borni dos Dias Luch	n L	Artola Condress Loticia	Bowas Nondieta Elicit	Nombre del Estudiante.	
	8.	29	28	27	28	N	24	23	22	21	20	19	100	17	10	15	14	13	12	=	10	9	08	7	6	5	4	w	N	-	4	11
T	1.0	54				-	. 32	4	60		2		tų.	E.		+	1	<u>}.</u> ,	24		49	v	11	-5	λi.	10	U.	2	14	-	54	余
I		24.5							i H	CS.	- 1		14	d'i	30	1.4	10 - 10	-	17	C.	1.5	4	(/+	17.	69	14	1.54	UN.	N.F.	-	5-1	4
Ţ														19									1000					-			1	6
1	di.	(a).	ĘĘ.		7	-		1.4	-	11	1.1.1	-Ē.	4	(Q	4	14			12	1	4	1	-0	w	-	14	1	LC.	w	2	5	2.
	دى	E	2	1.	5	2	U	C	2	4	h	U.I.	S	5	U1	л	ŝ	2	4	5	5	w	-0	\$	h	w	2	2	4	5	15	Fo.
1	0	1	Q	12	12	00	1	16	12	2	10	11	5	U'i	12	Y	5	5	T	60	÷	tt	6	P	2	+	5	E	0	11	UT AN	K
	J		ν,	D'	5	15	1	1	1	-1	51	UN,	5	J'I	S.	-	5	5	S	1		5	U)	5	UN		1	M	10	(Cri	1515 C CT Reve VS	1540
2.1		33	50	44	44	E	Ŧ			5	512	39	5	52	5	5	5		39	52	5.	52	QS	3	54	5	3			6	518	- Andrews
Ì	3	27	55	5	す	66	0	NU.	180	は、	×	5	3	60	60	A	F	44	66	64	52	64	3	G	1	8	22	28	45	50	Q ₀ /v ²	
120	40	6	.01	1	1	0	6	10	5	10	1.4	5	-12	47	-12	5	c	5	9	6	5	6	-5	0	6	0	6	N)	0	100	10	4.50
1	42	5	-1	32	•	20	2	1	-9	12			-	'n.	n	+		-	÷	5	10	+4	X	100	1-	0	2	00	0	10	N.	1º
c	+	Ð		2			1		1	-	-	-	17	10		0	-		1.0	5		+4	100	a	0	ð	1	+	0	L	标	
4	1	1	-				1						14	+		0.0		+	-	57 -	1	5	3	1.1	1	1	-	÷	1	0	1 ANA	+
1	12	+	I.F	+	1	-	p	0	-1	1	+	1	-	(C)	en	5	5	0	17	4	17	UN.	Z	1	5	C	2	\$ 5.	10	2	修	4.
í	1.55					100	1							- 5				1	1.		-		10			1000		-		1	10	k
1	1	3	-	7	14								-	1							14.4		100		1				17	11		12
1	Re		T	1	-	1	,		4	1	T	5	15	Ę	1	1	1		23	28	0.	11	1 2	T	0	10	1	10	S IT	1.1	121	5
	1	1	1		24	{		1	1			1	1	1	1	1					1	1	1	113	1	100	1	XI	N N	3	LCI.	il.
	()	12		11	-		3	211		14	1		1	22	1	1.0		55	1		1		1	1.1	35	17	17.5	58	300	33	NE	2
1	0	12	2.	-		-	20	뉡	1	10	24	-1-	14	10	14	12	D G	1	1	1.1	34	-	201	00	1 5	12	15	100	1	10	EE	VIEW T. MAL
		25	-	++		3 6		-11	4	d à	. 6	0 6	14	11	1 17	04	10	- 4	5	1	1 7	U	10	30	50	5.3	0	e -1	14	1-1 2-1/		+



1.- Listen and fill in the blanks.

	Pregunta		
J. La	is outruide	ades gir m	e han
gusta	do más e	s escurbo.	Canciones
hacer	resumanus	Per See to	anto que
opurnd	0 MOS 1 m	ence of es	ucha y
2 - H	buendo res	Area tota	. 9. e
	escribiendo		and the second sec
	as protoskoura		profit (skiltaren et egge) ik i kalen statue (skiltaren et egge
	lemas st.		

3-, Me han gustade menos (09 sob comition actividades con unos Popelitue The Annamos que buscar a londa pito Louis & marino 9. conceptu no me queta Porque mis Companeios ma haplan en C.SPOno! 0 50102 MIXO 0 tengo . 120,00 4- hon ando mals utiles 105 listen 131-156 diario 61.00 las (XPOSICIONES Porfice me 1021 Justand 100 (a mejuro Propositori

100

¿ Por que? gustado mas? 1 Cuales le han excueline incriter. gurlade Ne hau inberatorio. V.Lo vertfar ef ander 5 in: for your ite. dealoger. hacer VALLOD muy enteresante apranolodo mar?? males ha DiCon LUU mar apurilido Ine d la conclouer vocabularce or. mieroz lor porcejo: hochnor in practica auc la con mileta y il aprinche ask nez siguidas un la por ane Patroma ett Perque MENGE ? (guilado malles han 13 algunez mense M muli nen Unita por g Resteneno Purit elin 810 han reso man utiles? porque Eluales 4) utiles para me ride VIAND han 11:1vocabulancen los nuevos milola watthered ina myeran obraul we umile

1-	las actividad que usted
	have ion allo intersamples
	esa de dama vocabulario
	es muy bueno Siento
1	9. aprendo palabras
	norman, al conversar
	para mi ha tenido
	Bastonte cxºto ya que
	nos guita la penade
<u>33 0</u>	Mollar Con otras Personas
	y esponer tambien yame he
	a costumbiado a estavadelante
	y concentrarme enlo que estoy
na gi	dicionado en el imales os mului
	inportance scin atento yster
_	babe como institutionos agunque
	EVERES NO Estamos Domien de
	CHERICIAN USER MAS YOUND
	Pero seto yo se que es para
-	Murd Stro bien in in onio
	for the standing of
	Par 100 30 revalades que he
	aprendido nos ban Srdo
	I Aprosicion, Compressor conotros,
	excension y condiar vocabula
1	I to a gorda gorda